#### ABSTRACT

Title of Dissertation:COUPLING ANAEROBIC DIGESTION<br/>TECHNOLOGY AND FORAGE RADISH<br/>COVER CROPPING TO OPTIMIZE<br/>METHANE PRODUCTION OF DAIRY<br/>MANURE-BASED DIGESTIONDirected by:Professor Stephanie Lansing<br/>Department of Environmental Science and<br/>Technology

Anaerobic digestion technology was coupled with a new forage radish cover cropping system in order to increase biogas production of a dairy manure digester. Specifically, this research investigated forage radish as a renewable source of energy in terms of methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) production, the effect of radish co-digestion on hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) production, and the relationship between H<sub>2</sub>S production and methanogenesis limitations. Optimal substrate co-digestion ratios and inoculum to substrate ratios (ISR) were determined in the laboratory with biochemical methane potential assays (300 mL) and pilot-scale complete mix batch digesters (850 L) were constructed and operated to determine energy production potential at the farm-scale level.

Laboratory results showed that forage radish had 1.5-fold higher CH<sub>4</sub> potential than dairy manure on a volatile solids basis, with increasing the radish content of the co-digestion mixture significantly increasing CH<sub>4</sub> production. Initial H<sub>2</sub>S production also increased as the radish content increased, but the sulfur-containing compounds were rapidly utilized, resulting in all treatments having similar H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations (0.10-0.14%) and higher CH<sub>4</sub> content in the biogas (48-70% CH<sub>4</sub>) over time. The 100% radish digester had the highest specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield (372  $\pm$  12 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS). The co-digestion mixture containing 40% radish had a lower specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield (345  $\pm$  2 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS), but also showed significantly less H<sub>2</sub>S production at start-up and high quality biogas (58% CH<sub>4</sub>). Utilizing 40% radish as substrate, decreasing the ISR below 50% (wet weight) resulted in unstable digestion conditions with decreased CH<sub>4</sub> production and an accumulation of butyric and valeric acids.

Pilot-scale experiments revealed that radish co-digestion increased CH<sub>4</sub> production by 39% and lowered the H<sub>2</sub>S concentration in the biogas (0.20%) beyond that of manure-only digestion (0.34% - 0.40%), although cumulative H<sub>2</sub>S production in the radish + manure digesters was higher than manure-only. Extrapolated to a farm-scale (200 cows) continuous mixed digester, co-digesting with a 13% radish mixture could generate 3150 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>/month, providing a farmer additional revenue up to \$3125/month in electricity sales. These results suggest that dairy farmers could utilize forage radish, a substrate that does not compete with food production, to increase CH<sub>4</sub> production of manure digesters.

#### COUPLING ANAEROBIC DIGESTION TECHNOLOGY AND FORAGE RADISH COVER CROPPING TO OPTIMIZE METHANE PRODUCTION OF DAIRY MANURE-BASED DIGESTION

By

Ashley Juanika Belle

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Maryland, College Park, in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 2015

Advisory Committee: Professor Stephanie Lansing, Chair Professor Richard E. Erdman Professor Gary Kent Felton Professor Raymond R. Weil Dr. Walter Mulbry © Copyright by Ashley Juanika Belle 2015

## Foreword

Chapter 4 of this dissertation was previously published in *Bioresource Technology's* Special Issue on Thermo-chemical Conversion of Biomass. The published material is research that was conducted and primarily written by Ashley J. Belle during her doctoral studies at the University of Maryland. Ashley is listed as the first author of this publication, with members of her dissertation committee as co-authors. The dissertation examining committee, along with the Department of Environmental Science and Technology's Graduate Director, accept the inclusion of this previously published work in the dissertation as Ashley has made substantial contributions to the work.

doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.036

# Dedication

This work is dedicated to my parents, Earl and Olivia Belle. Thank you for instilling

in me the value of hard work. I love you dearly.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my dissertation advisor, Stephanie Lansing, for her continual support, guidance, and encouragement, throughout my doctoral studies at the University of Maryland. Thank you for being a wonderful mentor and compassionate friend. To Richard Erdman, Gary Felton, Walter Mulbry, and Ray Weil, I also extend my gratitude to each of you for serving on my dissertation committee and providing invaluable feedback in your area of expertise.

Sincere appreciation is also extended to the Northeast Sun Grant Initiative for funding my doctoral research and to the College of Agriculture and Natural Resources and the Department of Environmental Science and Technology for my Graduate Assistantships.

To the members of the Waste to Energy and Water Quality Laboratory, both past and present, thank you for your comradery and assistance during lab and field work. Freddy Witarsa, my colleague and dear friend, I am especially grateful that our life journeys have crossed paths.

To PROMISE, Maryland's Alliance for Graduate Education and the Professoriate, especially Renetta Tull, thank you for providing professional development programming and creating a sense of community for minority graduate students.

I am forever grateful to have such a loving and supportive family. To my parents, Earl and Olivia Belle, my brother Jason C. Belle, my aunt Oria Lee Houston, and cousin Angela R. Houston, I especially thank you from the bottom of my heart for always believing in me and giving me the courage and strength to follow my dreams. To the Belle, Johnson, Sims, Parker, and Howell families, thank you for your continual prayers and words of encouragement.

Most importantly, I am thankful for God's unconditional love, grace, and mercy, which have never failed me. It is my faith in Him that has allowed me to shine so brightly.

# **Table of Contents**

Foreword	ii
Dedication	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Table of Contents	vi
List of Tables	ix
List of Figures	xi
Chapter 1: Introduction 1.1 Background and Rationale for Conducting the Research 1.2 Research Objectives and Hypotheses 1.3 General Research Approach	1 1 7 9
<ul> <li>Chapter 2: Methane and Hydrogen Sulfide Production during Co-digestion of For Radish and Dairy Manure.</li> <li>2.1 Abstract.</li> <li>2.2 Introduction.</li> <li>2.3 Materials and Methods.</li> <li>2.3.1 Feedstocks.</li> <li>2.3.2 BMP1: Optimal co-digestion ratio experimental design.</li> <li>2.3.3 BMP2: Effect of harvest date experimental design.</li> <li>2.3.4 Biogas analysis</li></ul>	orage 10 11 14 14 14 14 15 16 17 19 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 21 32 34 34
<ul> <li>Chapter 3: The Effect of Inoculum to Substrate Ratio on Forage Radish Cover C Digestion and Co-digestion with Dairy Manure</li></ul>	rop 35 35 35 39

3.3.1 Feedstocks	39
3.3.2 Experimental design	40
3.3.3 Biogas analysis	41
3.3.4 Feedstock characterization	43
3.3.5 Statistical analysis	44
3.4 Results and Discussion	44
3.4.1 Methane production for the 40% radish co-digestion mixture	44
3.4.2 Methane production for 100% radish	48
3.4.3 Co-digestion and 100% radish at an ISR with 91% inoculum	50
3.4.4 Effect of volatile fatty acids and pH on methane production	51
3.5 Conclusions	57
3.6 Acknowledgements	57
Chapter 4: Anaerobic Co-digestion of Forage Radish and Dairy Manure in Comp	lete
Mix Digesters	58
4.1 Abstract	59
4.2 Introduction	59
4.3 Materials and Methods	62
4.3.1 Feedstocks	63
4.3.2 Experimental design	64
4.3.3 Biogas analysis	66
4.3.4 Feedstock characterization	67
4.3.5 Statistical analysis	67
4.4 Results and Discussion	68
$4.4.1 \ CH_4 \ production$	68
4.4.2 Total sulfur content and $H_2S$ production	72
<i>4.4.3 pH</i> , nutrients, and organic matter transformations	76
4.4.4 Farm-scale analysis	79
4.5 Conclusions	83
4.6 Acknowledgements	83
Charter 5. Earse Dadish Course Cranes Cultivation Harrist and Energy Viold	05
Chapter 5: Forage Radish Cover Crops: Cultivation, Harvest, and Energy Tield.	85
5.1 Cultivation	85
5.2 Harvesung	80
5.5 Processing	00
5.4 Energy Yield	88
Chapter 6: Conclusions	Q/
6.1 Results Summary	)+ 0/
6.2 Broader Impacts	94
6.2 Euture Work	95
	90
Appendices	97
Appendix A: Pilot-Scale Complete Mix Anaerobic Digester Design	) / 97
Appendix R: Standard Operating Procedures for Complete Mix Digesters	105
Appendix C. Supplementary Tables for Chapter ?	116
rependent C. Supplementary rubber for Chapter 2	0

Appendix D: Supplementary Table for Chapter 3	119
Appendix E: Supplementary Tables for Chapter 4	120
Appendix F: Letter for Inclusion of One's Own Previously Published Material	s 121
Bibliography	122

# List of Tables

Table 2.1 Feedstock loading for BMP1: Optimal co-digestion ratio study.       18
Table 2.2 Feedstock loading for BMP2: Effect of harvest date study
Table 2.3 Substrate characteristics for BMP1
Table 2.4 Average ( $\pm$ standard error) cumulative CH <sub>4</sub> and H <sub>2</sub> S production for BMP1. <sup>*</sup> . 24
Table 2.5 Characteristics of BMP1 before and after digestion, showing averages (±         standard error).         31
Table 3.1 Feedstock loading for the inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) study
Table 3.2 Characteristics of feedstocks.    43
Table 3.3 Average cumulative CH4 production at varying ISRs.    46
Table 4.1 Feedstock characterization represented by average (± standard error)
Table 4.2 Feedstock loading.    65
Table 4.3 Cumulative CH <sub>4</sub> and H <sub>2</sub> S production represented by average ( $\pm$ standard error)
Table 4.4 Characteristics of the manure-only and radish + manure mixtures before and after digestion
Table 4.5 Nitrogen and phosphorus characteristics of the digester effluents after 33 days of incubation.      79
Table 4.6 Energy and revenue per month for a 200-dairy cow farm operating a complete mix digestion system
Table 5.1 Biomass yields (± standard error) of forage radish cover crops
Table 5.2 Biomass and energy yields of crops.    90
Table C.1 Average cumulative biogas and CH <sub>4</sub> production values for BMP1 for the triplicate bottles, with 100 g <sub>ww</sub> of inoculum added to each BMP bottle, including inoculum controls

Table C.2 Average cumulative biogas and H <sub>2</sub> S production values for BMP1 for the triplicate bottles, with 100 g <sub>ww</sub> of inoculum added to each BMP bottle, including inoculum controls
Table C.3 Average cumulative biogas and CH <sub>4</sub> production values for BMP2 for the triplicate bottles, with 125 g <sub>ww</sub> of inoculum added to each BMP bottle, including inoculum controls
Table D.1 Average cumulative CH <sub>4</sub> production values for the inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) study for the triplicate bottles, with varying ratios of inoculum added to each BMP bottle, including inoculum controls <sup>*</sup>
Table E.1 Average cumulative biogas and CH <sub>4</sub> production values for the triplicate complete mix batch digesters
Table E.2 Average cumulative biogas and H <sub>2</sub> S production values for the triplicate complete mix batch digesters

# List of Figures

Figure 2.1 Average (± standard error) cumulative CH <sub>4</sub> production during digestion of forage radish and dairy manure mixtures. (A) L CH <sub>4</sub> /kg substrate added, (B) L CH <sub>4</sub> /kg VS of substrate added, and (C) CH <sub>4</sub> content in the biogas
Figure 2.2 Relationship between radish content and CH <sub>4</sub> and H <sub>2</sub> S production, respectively. Data normalized by (A) kilograms of substrate added and (B) kilograms of volatile solids of substrate added
Figure 2.3 Average ( $\pm$ standard error) cumulative H <sub>2</sub> S production during digestion of forage radish and dairy manure mixtures. (A) L H <sub>2</sub> S/kg substrate added, (B) L H <sub>2</sub> S/kg VS of substrate added, and (C) H <sub>2</sub> S content in the biogas
Figure 2.4 Relationship between radish content and TS and VS reduction, respectively. 32
Figure 2.5 Carbon to nitrogen (C:N) ratios for the forage radish cover crops roots and shoots. High N and Low N correspond to the level of nitrogen amendment present in the field during growth of the radish
Figure 3.1 Average (± standard error) CH <sub>4</sub> production from 40% radish (ww) co-digested with dairy manure at different inoculum to substrate ratios (ISR, by ww). (A) L CH <sub>4</sub> /kg VS of substrate added, (B) daily CH <sub>4</sub> production rate, and (C) CH <sub>4</sub> content in the biogas.
Figure 3.2 Average (± standard error) CH <sub>4</sub> production from 100% radish at different inoculum to substrate ratios (ISR, by ww). (A) L CH <sub>4</sub> /kg VS of substrate added, (B) daily CH <sub>4</sub> production rate, and (C) CH <sub>4</sub> content in the biogas
Figure 3.3 Relationship between inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) and CH <sub>4</sub> production. Data points at an ISR containing 91% inoculum obtained from a prior study, with regression data from inside the dashed lines of 50 to 91% ISR
Figure 3.4 Characteristics of 40% radish (ww) co-digested with dairy manure at different inoculum to substrate ratios (ISR). Panels represent: (A) pre-digestion VFA concentrations, (B) post-digestion VFA concentrations, and (C) pH values
Figure 3.5 Characteristics of 100% radish at different inoculum to substrate ratios (ISR). Panels represent: (A) pre-digestion VFA concentrations, (B) post-digestion VFA concentrations, and (C) pH values
Figure 4.1. Average ( $\pm$ standard error) CH <sub>4</sub> and H <sub>2</sub> S production for the manure-only (M1; M2) and radish + manure digesters (RM1: 27%; RM2: 13% radish, by ww). (A) L CH <sub>4</sub> /kg substrate added, (B) L CH <sub>4</sub> /kg VS added, (C) percent CH <sub>4</sub> , and (D) percent H <sub>2</sub> S.

Figure 4.2. Characteristics of the manure-only and radish + manure digesters during 33 days of incubation. (A) mg S/g feedstock added, (B) pH, (C) g sCOD/L feedstock added, and (D) mg VS/g feedstock added
Figure 5.1 A stand of forage radish cover crops in Beltsville, MD
Figure 5.2 Extracting radish (whole crop) from 1m <sup>2</sup> quadrants to determine biomass yield
Figure 5.3 The above-ground radish biomass
Figure 5.4 A rotary mower during radish harvesting
Figure 5.5 A forage chopper and adjacent collection wagon during radish harvesting 92
Figure 5.6 Forage chopped radish in collection wagon
Figure 5.7 Foraged chopped radish in Hobart industrial vertical cutter
Figure A.1 Diagram of 850 L complete mix anaerobic digester
Figure A.2 View of complete mix digesters under construction at USDA BARC
Figure A.3 View of complete mix digester equipped with (A) silicone adhesive rubber heating blankets and (B) a foil reflective frame to encapsulate heat
Figure A.4 View of temperature control panel
Figure A.5 View of internal temperature probe enclosed in protective sensing well 100
Figure A.6 View of top-mounted digester stirrers constructed using 1/15 hp Dayton right angle gear motors
Figure A.7 View of beveled blade (25 cm diameter) steel stir rods 101
Figure A.8 View of biogas bags equipped with gas collection ports
Figure A.9 View of (A) moisture trap and (B) desiccant trap 102
Figure A.10 Birdseye view of the complete mix digestion system
Figure A.11 View of pilot-scale operational complete mix anaerobic digester 103
Figure A.12 View of biogas bags in use
Figure B.1 View of gas port with septum inserted

Figure B.2 View of biogas metering set-up.	109
Figure B.3 View of digester loading set-up.	114

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

## 1.1 Background and Rationale for Conducting the Research

Since the pre-industrial era, methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) emissions have increased globally by 150% (IPCC, 2013). In the United States, livestock manure management is responsible for 26% of the anthropogenic CH<sub>4</sub> emissions related to agricultural activities, with dairy cattle listed as the highest emitter of all domestic animals (EPA, 2014a). Methane emissions associated with the dairy cattle industry have grown largely due to facilities shifting from solid to liquid manure storage systems in order to abide by nutrient management regulations that limit the application of solids to agricultural fields. The liquid handling of dairy manure creates anaerobic conditions, which lead to the production of CH<sub>4</sub> (EPA, 2014a).

In order to reduce CH<sub>4</sub> emissions associated with the handling of liquid dairy manure, AgSTAR, an outreach program jointly sponsored by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, and the U.S. Department of Energy, promotes the use of anaerobic digestion (AD) technology as a mechanism of capturing the methane-enriched biogas generated from animal manures and utilizing it as an on-farm renewable fuel source. The biogas can be used to generate electricity, sold as a renewable natural gas source (Naja et al., 2011), or burned for heating and cooking, thus displacing the need for wood and/or charcoal (Lansing et al., 2008; Rahman et al., 2014). Burning of methane-enriched biogas releases carbon dioxide into the atmosphere, which has 1/28 of the greenhouse gas impact that CH<sub>4</sub> has (IPCC, 2013), thus minimizing CH<sub>4</sub> emissions.

Other benefits of AD technology include the reduction of pathogens (Cote et al., 2006) and the production of a liquid fertilizer in which the nutrients are more biologically available to the crops, as organic nitrogen and phosphorus are converted to ammonium and orthophosphate during the digestion process (Maranon et al., 2011). Studies have also shown that AD reduces odor emissions associated with the handling of manures on farms between 70-95%, allowing for homes and farms to coexist (Masse et al., 2011).

Currently, approximately 244 anaerobic digesters are operating in the United States at commercial livestock facilities, with the majority of these digesters at dairy facilities (AgSTAR, 2014a). Worldwide, there are over 20,000 large scale anaerobic digesters, with China and Germany as leading countries, largely due to government credits and subsidy programs (Burns, 2009; Abbasi et al., 2012). In August 2014, the Obama Administration released the *Biogas Opportunities Roadmap*, a voluntary strategy designed to address climate change by reducing CH<sub>4</sub> emissions in the agricultural sector by utilizing CH<sub>4</sub> recovery systems such as anaerobic digesters. With the limited use of AD technology in the U.S., the roadmap seeks to identify ways to expand the use of the technology at U.S. livestock facilities as well as decreasing barriers that all too often thwart installation and successful operation. It was estimated that at full potential, the American biogas industry could produce enough energy to power 1 million homes, providing a win-win situation for farmers who would not only provide power to their own farms but also generate revenue by providing the supplemental energy to neighboring communities (EPA, 2014b).

There are several common barriers associated with the adoption of AD technology in the United States. The lack of financial assistance and high capital costs

2

associated with the installation of current U.S. digestion systems limits the number of sites where such technology would be economically feasible (AgSTAR, 2014b). Many U.S. dairy facilities lack the herd size ( $\geq$ 500 cows) AgSTAR estimates for AD to be economically viable due to being limited by their animal waste capacity (AgSTAR, 2011). In comparison to other digestion feedstocks, manure has relatively low biodegradability and biogas potential (Ward et al., 2008; Mata-Alvarez et al., 2014). Additionally, in order for current U.S. digestion systems to input generated electricity into U.S. infrastructure, connection to power grids with controls is required. The costs, maintenance, and logistics associated with updating infrastructure can outweigh the returns that would be generated from selling electricity due to the low price of electricity in the United States (AgSTAR, 2014b).

Energy production investment returns reveal that dairy digesters are not always economically favorable when dairy manure is digested solely (Klavon et al., 2013). However, biogas production from dairy digesters can become more economically viable by adding additional biodegradable feedstock that is located within close proximity to the dairy facility (El-Mashad et al., 2010). Co-digesting manure with other substrates, such as agricultural waste (Abouelenien et al., 2014), fats, oil, and grease (Lansing et al., 2010), or energy crops (Yue et al., 2013) with higher biogas potential, have been shown to increase CH<sub>4</sub> production up to 3.5-fold higher (Mata-Alvarez et al., 2014), thus increasing the feasibility of AD technology for the small to mid-sized dairy farmer. The Minnesota Project, a non-profit organization promoting sustainable energy production geared towards smaller dairy operations, reported that the addition of cheese whey to dairy manure digesters operating at Jer-Lindy Dairy (Brooten, MN) increased biogas production by 300% (Minnesota Project, 2010). Lansing et al. (2010) utilized plug flow digesters for co-digestion of swine manure and used cooking grease, resulting in a 124% increase in CH<sub>4</sub> production with a 2.5% to 10% addition of grease (by volume). However, the percentage of CH<sub>4</sub> in the biogas decreased with increasing grease additions, likely due to a build-up of volatile fatty acids (VFA), highlighting the importance of obtaining an optimal substrate co-digestion ratio in order to promote CH<sub>4</sub> generation.

Renewable energy production can be achieved by anaerobically digesting a variety of energy crops; however the most widely used energy crops consists of maize (195-402 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Gao et al., 2012; Golkowska and Greger, 2013), switchgrass (191-309 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Barbanti et al., 2014; Masse et al., 2010), sugar beets (236-381 L CH4/kg VS) (Umetsu et al., 2006; Braun et al., 2009), sunflower grass (154-400 L CH4/kg VS), and Sudan grass (213-303 L CH4/kg VS) (Amon et al., 2007; Braun et al., 2009). In order to obtain the maximum biogas yield from an energy crop, several key factors should be taken into consideration, including selecting the appropriate energy crop (i.e. variety; genotype), harvest time, pretreatment of the biomass prior to the digestion process, and nutrient/mineral composition of the energy crop (Amon et al., 2007). Since plant chemical composition varies over time as the plant matures, harvest time can have an effect on the CH<sub>4</sub> yield of the crop. Thus, in order to maximize the CH<sub>4</sub> yield, the ideal harvest time of the crop for AD should be determined. To date, inconsistent results have been found regarding the effect of harvest time on anaerobically digested energy crops (Lehtomaki et al., 2008), highlighting the need for further research on the effect of harvest time on digestion efficiency.

Popular winter cover crops grown in Maryland include winter rye, winter wheat, oats, forage radish, hairy vetch, and crimson clover. Similar to forage radish, oats will also winter-kill, while winter rye and hairy vetch are hardy plants that will continue growth in the spring (Traunfeld, 2009). Review of literature reveals that winter wheat and winter rye have been studied extensively as AD substrates, with CH<sub>4</sub> potentials ranging from 228-360 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS (Amon et al., 2007; Rincon et al., 2010) and 140-360 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS (Amon et al., 2007; Petersson et al., 2007), respectively. However, there is limited information on utilizing forage radish as a renewable energy source. The CH<sub>4</sub> production potential of radish can greatly vary based on multiple factors such as plant variety, portion of plant digested, and soil characteristics. Carvalho et al. (2011) determined that oilseed radish (Raphanus sativus var. oleifera cv. Pegletta) was a good substrate for CH<sub>4</sub> production (300 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kgVS). However, it should be noted that oilseed radish (pH 7.64) and forage radish (Raphanus sativus var. longipinnatus) (pH 4.3-5.5) are of different plant varieties and pH value, thus CH<sub>4</sub> production levels may greatly differ. Furthermore, to our knowledge, no other studies have experimentally determined how the total sulfur content of radish contributes to hydrogen sulfide ( $H_2S$ ) production in the biogas, the influence of H<sub>2</sub>S production on CH<sub>4</sub> production during radish digestion, or the effects of utilizing the radish as a co-substrate in dairy digesters to enhance biogas production. Thus, this research determined the optimal substrate co-digestion (radish and manure) ratio and inoculum level for enhanced methanogenesis while minimizing the H<sub>2</sub>S content of the biogas.

Forage radish was selected as the co-digestion substrate to investigate since it is a readily available cover crop that has seen increased interest by corn silage-based dairy farmers in the Northeast U.S. due to its multiple soil and environmental benefits. Typically, dairy farms in the NE region leave the land fallow after harvesting corn silage in August, therefore, the planting of forage radish immediately after corn harvest can be conducted without interfering with food production. Ideally, the winter cover crop is planted from August to mid-September. This crop is attractive to farmers because it increases crop yield (Gruver et al., 2014), does not compete with other food crops (Weil et al., 2009), suppresses early spring weeds (Lawley et al., 2012), and is known as being a bio-driller. The radish roots can penetrate 6 feet or more down into the soil profile thus alleviating soil compaction (Chen and Weil, 2010 and 2011). The crop also reduces nitrogen leaching into the groundwater as the deep penetrating roots are able to capture the nitrogen and bring it to the surface thus increasing topsoil fertility. Additionally, as the crop rapidly decays, it also releases nitrogen early into the topsoil, thus reducing the need for fertilizer (Weil and Kremen, 2007; Weil et al., 2009). Typically, this crop would not be harvested by the farmer, as the crop winter kills and rapidly decays in late December, leaving behind a clean enhanced seedbed (Weil et al., 2009). However, in this research, the above-ground biomass of the radish cover crop was harvested before winterkill for digestion substrate. Harvesting could expand the use of the radish cover crop and previous research has shown that even when the crop is harvested, the soil benefits previously discussed are still realized (Lawley et al., 2012). Use of the radish as a cosubstrate in a dairy digester has the potential to enhance biogas production during the fall and winter months when the demand for fuel is particularly high in the United States.

#### **1.2 Research Objectives and Hypotheses**

The overall goal of this research was to couple AD technology with forage radish cover cropping to increase biogas production of dairy manure-based digestion. Specifically, this research investigated forage radish as a renewable source of energy in terms of CH<sub>4</sub> production, the effect of radish co-digestion on H<sub>2</sub>S production, and the relationship between H<sub>2</sub>S production and methanogenesis limitations.

#### The main objectives of this research include the following:

**Objective 1:** To determine the optimal co-digestion ratio of dairy manure and forage radish based on  $CH_4$  production (biogas quantity and %  $CH_4$  in biogas) and  $H_2S$  concentration and determine if a synergistic effect on  $CH_4$  production is observed when co-digesting manure and radish cover crops.

Hypotheses: Increasing the ratio of forage radish in dairy digesters will increase  $CH_4$  production until a certain threshold when  $H_2S$  production begins to inhibit methanogenic activity. Co-digestion of forage radish in dairy digesters will result in higher  $CH_4$  production than the sum of each substrate digested individually, with forage radish having a higher biogas potential than dairy manure, and the combination having the highest  $CH_4$  production.

**Objective 2:** To determine the effect of forage radish harvest date (early harvest in October vs. late harvest in December) on CH<sub>4</sub> production.

Hypothesis: The CH<sub>4</sub> potential of the late-harvest radish crop will result in 50% more CH<sub>4</sub> production than the early-harvest crop.

**Objective 3:** To determine the effect of the inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) on CH<sub>4</sub> production during forage radish digestion and co-digestion with dairy manure.

Hypothesis: An ISR of 1:1 (by wet weight) will have the greatest production of CH<sub>4</sub> in the generated biogas, with significant decreases in CH<sub>4</sub> production at lower ISRs and no statistically significant changes at higher ISRs.

**Objective 4:** To determine the effect of VFA production and pH on CH<sub>4</sub> production at varying ISRs.

*Hypothesis: Decreasing the ISR will result in an unstable digester with decreases in pH value and CH*<sup>4</sup> *production and an accumulation of VFAs.* 

**Objective 5:** To determine the difference in CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S production when digesting only dairy manure versus co-digesting dairy manure with forage radish cover crops in batch pilot-scale complete mix digesters.

Hypothesis: Co-digesting with radish will significantly increase  $CH_4$  and  $H_2S$  production relative to manure-only digestion.

**Objective 6:** To determine how the percentage of forage radish in the co-digestion mixture affects CH<sub>4</sub> production in batch pilot-scale complete mix digesters.

*Hypothesis: Increasing the radish content in the co-digestion mixture will increase CH*<sub>4</sub> *production.* 

**Objective 7:** To quantify the radish crop acreage required for co-digestion at the farmscale level and how inclusion of radish cover crops affects on-farm energy production potential.

#### **1.3 General Research Approach**

Forage radish cover crops (above-ground biomass) and dairy manure were used as digestion substrates. Several acres of forage radish were grown each year of this project at a USDA-ARS facility located in Beltsville, MD. The methane potential of the substrates was determined at two scales. To achieve Objectives 1-4, optimal substrate co-digestion ratios and inoculum to substrate ratios were determined in the laboratory with biochemical methane potential experiments (300 mL). For laboratory experiments, the radish was harvested by hand from randomized 1 m<sup>2</sup> quadrants. For Objectives 5-7, six pilot-scale batch complete mix digesters (850 L) were designed, constructed, and operated during two 33-day field trials. For the pilot-scale experiments, a rotary mower and forage chopper were used for radish harvesting and to determine biomass yields. Digestion efficiency and stability were evaluated by analyzing biogas samples for CH4 and H<sub>2</sub>S and liquid samples for pH, total and volatile solids, soluble chemical oxygen demand, volatile fatty acids, total Kjeldahl nitrogen, total Kjeldahl phosphorus, and total sulfur.

# **Chapter 2: Methane and Hydrogen Sulfide Production during Co-digestion of Forage Radish and Dairy Manure**

#### 2.1 Abstract

Forage radish, a winter cover crop, was investigated as a co-substrate to increase biogas production from dairy manure-based anaerobic digestion. Lab-scale batch digesters (300 mL) were operated under mesophilic conditions (35°C) during two experiments (BMP1; BMP2). In BMP1, the optimal co-digestion ratio for radish and dairy manure based on  $CH_4$  production and  $H_2S$  concentration was determined by increasing the radish content (above-ground biomass) from 0-100% (wet weight). Results showed that forage radish had 1.5-fold higher CH<sub>4</sub> potential than dairy manure on a volatile solids basis. While no synergistic effect on CH<sub>4</sub> production resulted from co-digestion, increasing the radish content of the co-digestion mixture significantly increased CH<sub>4</sub> production. Initial H<sub>2</sub>S production increased as the radish content increased, but the sulfur-containing compounds were rapidly utilized, resulting in all treatments having similar H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations (0.10-0.14%) and higher  $CH_4$  content in the biogas (48-70%  $CH_4$ ) over time. The 100% radish digester had the highest specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield ( $372 \pm 12$  L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS). The co-digestion mixture containing 40% radish had a lower specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield  $(345 \pm 2 \text{ L CH}_4/\text{kg VS})$  but also showed significantly less H<sub>2</sub>S production at start-up and high quality biogas (58% CH<sub>4</sub>). Results from BMP2 showed that the radish harvest date (October versus December) did not significantly influence radish C:N ratios or CH<sub>4</sub> production during co-digestion with dairy manure. These results suggest that dairy farmers could utilize forage radish, a readily available substrate that does not compete with food supply, to increase CH<sub>4</sub> production of manure digesters in the fall/winter.

#### 2.2 Introduction

The economics of dairy manure-based digesters are not always favorable due to the relatively low biodegradability and biogas yield of dairy manure compared to other organic wastes (El-Mashad and Zhang, 2010; Klavon et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2011). To increase methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) production from manure-based digesters, appropriate codigestion substrates can be used. Determining the appropriate substrate ratios is a key factor in creating an optimized anaerobic digestion (AD) environment, as the composition of each substrate can vary greatly in characteristics such as alkalinity, pH, organic content, nutrient composition, and microbial population (Ward et al., 2008; Pages-Diaz et al., 2014; Al Seadi et al., 2008). Umetsu et al. (2006) showed that increasing the percentage of sugar beet tops (10% - 40%, by volume) in dairy manure digesters increased CH<sub>4</sub> production up to 45%. However, while increasing the proportion of sugar beet roots from 5% - 12% increased CH<sub>4</sub> production by 11%, inhibitory effects were observed for mixtures containing 15% beet roots. Zhang et al. (2013) showed that the CH<sub>4</sub> yield decreased as the ratio of food waste to cattle manure increased from 2:1 - 4:1(VS basis), whereas Bah et al. (2014) demonstrated that as the ratio of palm pressed fiber to cattle manure increased from 1:3 to 3:1 (VS basis), CH<sub>4</sub> yield significantly increased.

Co-digestion has also been shown to have synergistic and antagonistic effects on CH<sub>4</sub> production. A synergistic effect results in increased CH<sub>4</sub> production from the substrates beyond what is achieved from digestion of each individual component, while an antagonistic effect negatively influences CH<sub>4</sub> production likely due to inhibitory substances or toxicants present in the mixture components (Pages-Diaz et al., 2014; Navaneethan et al., 2011). A synergistic effect was observed when co-digesting equal fractions (wet weight (ww) basis) of municipal solid waste, slaughterhouse waste, manure, and various crops. Due to the mixture satisfying more of the nutritional demands of the microbial community, co-digestion increased CH<sub>4</sub> production by 31% compared to the CH<sub>4</sub> production value of each individual fraction (Pages-Diaz et al., 2014). Li et al (2013) observed that co-digesting corn stover and chicken manure at a 3:1 ratio (VS basis) had a greater synergistic effect (14% increase) on CH<sub>4</sub> production compared to a 1:1 ratio (4% increase). Antagonistic effects were observed co-digesting calcium acetate with boiler cleaning waste, with large reductions in CH<sub>4</sub> production as the proportion of boiler cleaning waste increased, likely due to inhibitory concentrations of copper and chromium present in the cleaning wastewater (Navaneethan et al., 2011).

The chemical composition of plant tissue commonly varies over time as the plant matures, which can potentially affect the CH<sub>4</sub> yield when utilizing plant material as codigestion substrate. Lehtomaki et al. (2008) found no significant change in CH<sub>4</sub> yield when a vetch-oat mixture was digested after harvest at the vegetative or flowering stages. However, the same study showed that while reed canary grass and giant knotweed produced the most CH<sub>4</sub> if harvested during the late flowering stage, rhubarb and lupine produced the most CH<sub>4</sub> if harvested during the vegetative stage. Masse et al. (2010) determined that the CH<sub>4</sub> yield of switchgrass decreased with advancing stages of development, and Ragaglini et al. (2014) found that the juvenile crop stages of giant reed had the highest CH<sub>4</sub> production. In contrast, Bruni et al. (2010) found that fresh maize at late harvest had the highest CH<sub>4</sub> yield. These inconsistent results highlight the need for further research on the effect of harvest time on digestion efficiency and led Lehtomaki et al. (2008) to conclude that the effect of harvest time on AD was crop specific.

This study investigated coupling AD technology with a new forage radish cover cropping system in order to increase biogas production during the fall and winter months. With over 80% of the U.S. agricultural AD systems operating on commercial dairies (AgSTAR, 2014), this co-digestion research was designed to assist small to mid-sized corn-silage based dairy farmers in overcoming limitations of low biogas production from dairy manure by providing a readily available co-digestion substrate that does not compete with food production. Radish cover crops have not been studied extensively as a potential bioenergy feedstock for AD. To our knowledge, there are only a few studies that have utilized radish crops in mono-digestion studies, while co-digestion studies are limited to one report utilizing radish fodder (whole plant) and pig slurry at one substrate mixture ratio (75% pig slurry & 25% radish, by ww) (Peu et al., 2013). Review of previous mono-digestion studies revealed that the CH<sub>4</sub> potential of radish varied greatly (237-450 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) depending on plant variety, soil characteristics, climatic conditions, the portion of the plant digested, and pretreatment methods (Gunaseelan, 2004; Peu et al., 2012; Carvalho et al., 2011; Nielsen and Feilberg, 2012; Molinuevo-Salces et al., 2013).

If the proportions of co-digestion mixtures are arbitrarily selected, the full CH<sub>4</sub> potential from the combination of substrates may not be realized (Pages-Diaz et al., 2014). The aim of this research was to determine the optimal substrate ratio for co-digesting the above-ground biomass of fresh forage radish cover crops and dairy manure (0 to 100%, by ww). Utilizing only the above-ground radish biomass allows for easier harvesting of the cover crops using typical farming machinery, such as a mower and forage chopper, and the nitrogen taken up in the roots will remain in the field and become

available for the subsequent corn crop as the below-ground root decays (Weil and Kremen, 2007; Weil et al., 2009). The transformation of sulfur-containing compounds in the radish to hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) in the produced biogas was also determined across the entire range of co-digestion ratios as forage radish is a sulfur-rich crop and H<sub>2</sub>S can corrode biogas utilization systems. The specific research objectives were to: (1) determine the optimal co-digestion ratio of dairy manure and forage radish above-ground biomass based on CH<sub>4</sub> production and H<sub>2</sub>S concentration, (2) determine whether inclusion of forage radish to dairy manure has a synergistic effect on CH<sub>4</sub> production, and (3) determine the effect of forage radish harvest date on CH<sub>4</sub> production. Utilizing forage radish, a cover crop that would otherwise winter-kill, could potentially enable dairy farmers to produce additional renewable energy without losing the benefits of the cover crop. Even if the above-ground radish biomass is harvested for AD, the benefits of increased topsoil fertility, compaction alleviation, and weed suppression will remain (Chen and Weil, 2010; Chen and Weil, 2011; Lawley et al., 2012).

#### 2.3 Materials and Methods

#### 2.3.1 Feedstocks

Forage radish cover crops (*Raphanus sativus* var. *longipinnatus*) and dairy manure (both scraped manure and the liquid fraction of solids-separated manure) were used as digestion substrates. The above-ground biomass of the forage radish cover crop was harvested from a USDA facility located in Beltsville, MD (39.03°, -76.89°). Planting of the radish cover crop occurred in August immediately after corn silage harvest. The radish was harvested by hand prior to winter-kill from randomized 1 m<sup>2</sup> quadrants. A

stainless steel knife was used to harvest the above-ground biomass, which consisted of the leafy shoots plus a small portion of the fleshy root that extended above the soil surface. Each radish was cut approximately 3 to 5 cm from the soil surface and frozen in heavy-duty plastic bags until use. After thawing, a food processor was used to chop the radish into a semi-slurry material in order to emulate harvesting the radish utilizing a rotary mower and forage chopper.

Dairy manure was obtained from the 120-cow USDA research dairy facility. The dairy manure was scraped and stored in a manure pit prior to solids separation with a FAN separator, which removes roughly 80% of the solids. The liquid fraction of the separated manure is treated in a mesophilic (25-35°C) complete-mix anaerobic digester (540 m<sup>3</sup>). Inoculum from this digester was obtained from a sampling port located inside the digester and was utilized to accelerate biogas production in the batch studies.

#### 2.3.2 BMP1: Optimal co-digestion ratio experimental design

Biochemical methane potential (BMP) assays were conducted to determine the CH<sub>4</sub> potential of each substrate individually and the optimal co-digestion ratio. The BMP assay determines the relative biodegradability of an organic material by a consortium of anaerobic microbes under batch conditions. BMP1 assays were based on a modified method of Moody et al. (2011) using 21 glass serum bottles (300 mL), with three replications of seven treatment groups: manure only (0% radish), radish only (100% radish), and co-digestion mixtures containing radish and dairy manure (the liquid fraction of solids-separated manure) with 20, 40, 50, 60, and 80% radish addition. All substrates were added on a ww basis (Table 2.1). BMP1 was conducted for 30-days, the time period

in which biogas production had largely ceased, with daily biogas production contributing < 1% of the cumulative biogas production.

An equal quantity of inoculum was added to each BMP bottle, resulting in the inoculum to substrate ratios (ISR) ranging from 3.3:1 - 1.5:1 by g VS, which was similar to Raposo et al. (2006) where the ISR ranged from 3:1 - 1:1 by g VS and showed little variability in the CH<sub>4</sub> yield coefficient. Three additional BMP bottles containing inoculum-only served as seed blanks. The inoculum had an average pH of 7.53, and total solids (TS) and volatile solids (VS) concentration of 19.4 and 11.9 mg/g, respectively. Nutrient media was not utilized as dairy manure has been shown to contain the necessary micronutrients for digestion (Al Seadi et al., 2008).

The bottles were purged with N<sub>2</sub>:CO<sub>2</sub> gas (70:30 vv) to displace residual oxygen and capped with a rubber septum to create an anaerobic environment. The bottles were placed on a continuous orbital shaker (New Brunswick Scientific; Edison, NJ USA; model Innova 2300) at 117 RPM and incubated in a darkened environmental chamber at  $35^{\circ}$ C.

#### 2.3.3 BMP2: Effect of harvest date experimental design

In order to determine the effect of the harvest date on CH<sub>4</sub> production potential of forage radish cover crops, an additional BMP experiment (BMP2) was conducted. BMP2 was conducted for 60-days in batch mode with three replications of two treatment groups: 23% early-harvested radish and 23% late-harvested radish (by ww) as co-substrate with scraped dairy manure (77%, by ww). The early-harvested radish was collected on October 22 and had an average TS and VS concentration of 98.5 and 89.3 mg/g, respectively, while the late-harvested radish was obtained prior to winter-kill on December 15 and had an average TS and VS concentration of 103 and 90.7 mg/g, respectively. The VS concentrations of the radish substrates were found to not be significantly different (p-value= 0.112). All treatments contained an equal amount of manure (38.7 and 28.7 mg/g TS and VS, respectively) and inoculum (14.7 and 9.30 mg/g TS and VS, respectively) (Table 2.2). Three additional BMP bottles containing inoculum only served as seed blanks. The bottles were anaerobically incubated as described in Section 2.2.

#### 2.3.4 Biogas analysis

The biogas production and CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S content of the produced biogas were measured daily for the first week, every other day during the second week of the study, bi-weekly, and weekly, with the frequency of biogas measurement based on the quantity of biogas produced. The produced biogas was quantified by volumetric displacement using a wetted glass gas-tight graduated syringe (50 mL) (Popper & Sons, Inc.; New York USA) inserted through the rubber septum of the BMP bottle into the gas headspace with pressure displacing the syringe plunger until equilibrium. The biogas was analyzed for CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S content using a gas chromatograph (Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Shanghai China; model 7890 A) with a thermal conductivity detector at 250°C, an HP-Plot Q capillary column (Agilent J&W; USA), and He as the carrier gas at 8.6 ml/min. The oven operated at 60°C for 2 min and subsequently ramped at 30°C/min to 240°C. To account for biogas production from residual biodegradable material in the digester inoculum, triplicate controls containing only inoculum were incubated and sampled simultaneously to allow subtraction of biogas production not attributed to the substrates.

	Inoculum (g <sub>ww</sub> )	Radish (g <sub>ww</sub> )	Manure (g <sub>ww</sub> )	<b>Total</b> (g <sub>ww</sub> )	Inoculum (g VS)	Radish (g VS)	Manure (g VS)	<b>Total</b> (g VS)	ISR <sup>a</sup>
0% Radish	100	0	10	110	1.19	0.00	0.36	1.55	3.32
20% Radish	100	2	8	110	1.19	0.16	0.29	1.64	2.68
40% Radish	100	4	6	110	1.19	0.32	0.22	1.72	2.24
50% Radish	100	5	5	110	1.19	0.39	0.18	1.77	2.08
60% Radish	100	6	4	110	1.19	0.47	0.14	1.81	1.93
80% Radish	100	8	2	110	1.19	0.63	0.07	1.90	1.69
100% Radish	100	10	0	110	1.19	0.79	0.00	1.98	1.51

**Table 2.1** Feedstock loading for BMP1: Optimal co-digestion ratio study.

<sup>a</sup> Inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) calculated on a VS basis.

**Table 2.2** Feedstock loading for BMP2: Effect of harvest date study.

	Inoculum (g <sub>ww</sub> )	<b>Radish</b> (g <sub>ww</sub> )	Manure (g <sub>ww</sub> )	<b>Total</b> (g <sub>ww</sub> )	Inoculum (g VS)	<b>Radish</b> (g VS)	Manure (g VS)	<b>Total</b> (g VS)	ISR <sup>a</sup>
Early Harvest Radish	125	6	20	151	1.16	0.535	0.57	2.27	1.05
Late Harvest Radish	125	6	20	151	1.16	0.544	0.57	2.28	1.04

<sup>a</sup> Inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) calculated on a VS basis.

#### 2.3.5 Feedstock characterization

The forage radish and dairy manure for BMP1 were characterized for crude protein, acid detergent fiber, neutral detergent fiber, lignin, crude fat, sugar, starch, and sulfur (Cumberland Valley Analytical Services, Hagerstown, MD) (Table 2.3). Codigestion mixtures were analyzed before and after digestion at the University of Maryland for pH, TS, and VS. The pH was determined with a glass electrode and an Accumet AB 15 pH meter. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater (APHA, 2005) were used to determine TS (Method 2540B) and VS (Method 2540 E). In addition for BMP2, the carbon to nitrogen (C:N) ratio of the radish shoots and roots were determined by combustion utilizing a CHN Analyzer (LECO Corporation; St. Joseph, Michigan; CHN-2000).

	Dairy	Forage
Property	Manure	Radish
рН	8.07 (0.01)	5.62 (0.01)
<b>TS</b> $(mg/g)$	47.5 (0.08)	91.6 (1.56)
VS(mg/g)	35.9 (0.13)	79.0 (1.46)
<b>Ash</b> ( <i>mg/g</i> )	11.6 (0.05)	12.7 (0.10)
<b>Crude Protein</b> ( <i>mg/g</i> )	7.78	12.7
Acid Detergent Fiber (mg/g)	16.0	15.3
<b>Neutral Detergent Fiber</b> ( <i>mg/g</i> )	24.1	18.5
<b>Lignin</b> ( <i>mg/g</i> )	4.37	1.74
<b>Crude Fat</b> ( <i>mg/g</i> )	1.23	3.02
Sugar $(mg/g)$	0.85	31.3
Starch (mg/g)	3.42	1.28
Sulfur (mg/g)	0.14	0.55

Table 2.3 Substrate characteristics for BMP1.

Mechanical harvesting of the above-ground radish biomass transforms the radish into a semi-slurry material. The semi-slurry material was dewatered with a French press and the liquid was captured, resulting in 98% recovery of the radish biomass for VS analyses. The VS content was determined for the following fractions of harvested radish (above-ground biomass): semi-slurry, dewatered, and liquid.

#### 2.3.6 Statistical analysis

The experimental design for BMP1 was a completely randomized design with 21 experimental units (BMP bottles) and seven treatment levels (percentage of radish in codigestion mixture) with three replicates of each treatment. Significance of differences were determined using a single factor ANOVA followed by Tukey-Kramer's post hoc tests for average CH<sub>4</sub> yields, H<sub>2</sub>S yields, and VS concentrations using *SAS 9.3* (SAS, Cary, NC). Simple linear regressions were also conducted with percent radish in the codigestion mixture being the explanatory variable. CH<sub>4</sub> yields, H<sub>2</sub>S yields, TS and VS reductions were the response variables studied. For BMP2, two treatment levels (harvest date) with three replicates each were utilized with significant differences in CH<sub>4</sub> yields, C:N ratios, TS, and VS determined by t-tests. The level of significance was held at 0.05 for all statistical analyses. Reported values are given as means with standard errors.

#### 2.4 Results and Discussion

#### 2.4.1 BMP1: Optimal co-digestion ratio

#### 2.4.1.1 Methane production

Methane production increased as the radish content increased from 0% to 100% (Figure 2.1), revealing that co-digestion with radish does increase CH<sub>4</sub> production from
dairy manure-based digesters. Utilizing 0% radish (manure-only) and 100% radish as substrates individually, produced 8.7  $\pm$  0.2 and 29.4  $\pm$  0.9 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate, respectively. Co-digesting the same amounts of radish and manure from the individual treatments produced 19.6  $\pm$  1.4 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate, which was only 2.7% different than the combined total from individual digestion (19.0 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate), revealing no synergistic effect when co-digesting the substrates.

Radish content and CH<sub>4</sub> production had a linear relationship ( $R^2 = 0.97$ ) equating to CH<sub>4</sub> production (L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate) equaling 0.20x + 9.51, with "x" being percent radish in the co-digestion mixture (Figure 2.2). Even with a small quantity of radish added to the co-digestion mixture (20%), CH<sub>4</sub> production increased by 61% compared to manure-only digestion (p-value = 0.001). The CH<sub>4</sub> production of the 40% radish mixture was significantly greater than 20% radish and 60% radish was greater than 40% radish (Figure 2.1; Tables 2.4, C.1). Increasing the radish content from 60 to 80% radish resulted in CH<sub>4</sub> production values that were not significantly different (p-value = 0.261). However, it should be noted that 80% radish (24.3 ± 1.3 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate) had the most variability among the treatments. Based on the linear regression equation, the 80% radish mixture should have had a higher average CH<sub>4</sub> production value (25.5 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate) than what was experimentally determined.



**Figure 2.1** Average ( $\pm$  standard error) cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> production during digestion of forage radish and dairy manure mixtures. (**A**) L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate added, (**B**) L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS of substrate added, and (**C**) CH<sub>4</sub> content in the biogas.



**Figure 2.2** Relationship between radish content and CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S production, respectively. Data normalized by (**A**) kilograms of substrate added and (**B**) kilograms of volatile solids of substrate added.

	L CH4/kg substrate	L H <sub>2</sub> S/kg substrate	L CH4/kg VS	L H <sub>2</sub> S/kg VS
0% Radish	8.69 (0.21) <sup>a</sup>	0.03 (0.002) <sup>a</sup>	242 (6) <sup>a</sup>	0.76 (0.07) <sup>a</sup>
20% Radish	14.0 (0.2) <sup>b</sup>	$0.04 \ (0.004)^{ab}$	315 (4) <sup>b</sup>	0.94 (0.10) <sup>ab</sup>
40% Radish	18.3 (0.1) <sup>c</sup>	0.07 (0.0001) <sup>bc</sup>	345 (2) <sup>bc</sup>	1.41 (0.001) <sup>bc</sup>
50% Radish	19.4 (0.3) <sup>cd</sup>	0.09 (0.002) <sup>c</sup>	337 (5) <sup>bc</sup>	1.64 (0.04) <sup>c</sup>
60% Radish	22.0 (0.3) <sup>de</sup>	0.10 (0.01) <sup>cd</sup>	357 (5) <sup>bc</sup>	1.63 (0.10) <sup>c</sup>
80% Radish	24.3 (1.3) <sup>e</sup>	0.13 (0.01) <sup>d</sup>	345 (18) <sup>bc</sup>	1.84 (0.20) <sup>cd</sup>
100% Radish	29.4 (0.9) <sup>f</sup>	0.18 (0.01) <sup>e</sup>	372 (12) <sup>c</sup>	2.23 (0.06) <sup>d</sup>

 $\textbf{Table 2.4} \ Average \ (\pm \ standard \ error) \ cumulative \ CH_4 \ and \ H_2S \ production \ for \ BMP1.^*$ 

\* Superscripts denote significant differences within column.

Normalized by VS addition (specific methane yield), 100% radish had 1.5-fold higher CH<sub>4</sub> potential than 100% dairy manure (Figure 2.1). The addition of radish (20%) to dairy manure significantly improved the conversion of VS into CH<sub>4</sub> by 30% (73 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (p-value = 0.002). The 100% radish mixture had the highest CH<sub>4</sub> conversion efficiency (372 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS), with no significant differences between the specific methane yields of 20-80% radish. However, the conversion efficiency of 100% radish was significantly greater than 20% radish. The similar conversion efficiencies with the inclusion of the radish substrate illustrates that the additional VS from the radish was able to be converted into CH<sub>4</sub>.

Hidalgo and Martin-Marroquin (2014) demonstrated that on a VS basis the most CH<sub>4</sub> production also occurred when digesting waste vegetable oil (WVO) and pig manure at a ratio of 1:0, followed by 3:1, 1:1, and 1:3. Dias et al. (2014) also showed that with co-digestion of pear waste with liquid dairy cattle manure that CH<sub>4</sub> production increased from 112.5 to 472.0 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS as the percentage of pear waste increased (0 to 100%, by volume) in the mixture. They did note that as pear waste increased, the pH of the digesters decreased (8.60 - 6.44) illustrating acidification could lead to digester instability. However in the radish digestion studies, pH values remained relatively stable, even at higher loadings of forage radish, likely due to the large amount of inoculum utilized to ensure adequate buffering capacity.

# 2.4.1.2 Hydrogen sulfide production

On a VS basis, 100% forage radish produced significantly more cumulative H<sub>2</sub>S than dairy manure ( $2.23 \pm 0.06$  and  $0.76 \pm 0.07$  L H<sub>2</sub>S/kg VS, respectively) (p-value = < 0.0001) (Figure 2.3; Tables 2.4, C.2). While the addition of a small quantity of radish

(20%) significantly increased CH<sub>4</sub> production, there was no significant increase in H<sub>2</sub>S production compared to manure-only digestion (p-value = 0.725). A positive linear relationship ( $R^2 = 0.94$ ) was observed between radish content and H<sub>2</sub>S production equating to H<sub>2</sub>S production (L H<sub>2</sub>S/kg substrate) equaling 0.00148x + 0.0183, with "x" being percent radish in the co-digestion mixture (Figure 2.2). Increasing radish content in 20% intervals from 20 to 40% radish or 40 to 60% radish, there were no significant differences in H<sub>2</sub>S production (p-values = 0.093 and 0.250, respectively). However, 60% radish had significantly higher H<sub>2</sub>S production (0.18 ± 0.01 L H<sub>2</sub>S/kg substrate). While the co-digestion mixtures containing a larger proportion of radish (80 and 60% radish) had significantly higher H<sub>2</sub>S production values (L/kg substrate) initially, by Day 6, the H<sub>2</sub>S concentration (0.10 – 0.14%) of all treatments was not significantly different.

On Day 1, digesters containing a larger radish proportion ( $\geq 60\%$  radish) had a lower quality of biogas (22 – 25% CH<sub>4</sub>) and H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations in the biogas being greater than 0.26%. The 100% radish digester had the highest H<sub>2</sub>S concentration at 0.37% on Day 1, while the manure-only digester had only 0.17% H<sub>2</sub>S (Figure 2.3). As the sulfur-containing compounds in the radish were rapidly utilized and reduced to H<sub>2</sub>S, large volumes of H<sub>2</sub>S was produced initially. However by Day 6, H<sub>2</sub>S production decreased and the CH<sub>4</sub> concentration of the biogas increased, with the CH<sub>4</sub> concentration in all radish digesters being greater than 50%, surpassing the CH<sub>4</sub> concentration of the manureonly digester (46%) (Figure 2.1). As the total sulfur concentration increased with increasing radish addition, the metabolic activity of the sulfate reducing bacteria (SRB) likely also increased, resulting in greater H<sub>2</sub>S production initially with the digesters containing a larger radish proportion. As the sulfur was rapidly utilized, the metabolic activity of the SRB declined, resulting in all digesters having similar biogas  $H_2S$  concentrations by Day 6. Allen et al. (2014) demonstrated that increasing the content of fresh *Ulva lactuca*, a sulfur-rich green seaweed, from 25 to 75% inclusion with dairy manure (VS basis) decreased the percentage of CH<sub>4</sub> in the biogas from 51 to 25%, with the 25% *Ulva* co-digestion mixture having the lowest  $H_2S$  concentration. A large inhibitory effect on CH<sub>4</sub> production with increased radish addition was not found in our study considering cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> production values and CH<sub>4</sub> concentration during peak production.

Overall, methanogenesis was not suppressed by the sulfur content of the forage radish as large amounts of CH<sub>4</sub> were produced (315 – 372 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) relative to manure-only digestion (242 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS). After the initial period of CH<sub>4</sub> suppression, as radish content increased the quality of the biogas increased illustrating that co-digesting also improved overall gas quality. At peak CH<sub>4</sub> production (Day 5-15), the CH<sub>4</sub> concentration of the radish digesters ranged from 53 - 70%, with 100% radish having the highest CH<sub>4</sub> concentration. The H<sub>2</sub>S concentration ranged from 0.10 – 0.14% for all digesters. These levels exceeded the recommended H<sub>2</sub>S concentration for boilers (< 0.10%) (Persson and Wellinger, 2006) and combined heat and power units (< 0.01-0.05%) (Deublein and Steinhauser, 2011) during peak CH<sub>4</sub> production. However the H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations of the radish digesters were not significantly different (p-value= 0.056) than the manure-only digester during peak CH<sub>4</sub> production, thus suggesting that no further biogas treatment measures will be required as a result of radish inclusion beyond that which is needed for manure-only digestion.



**Figure 2.3** Average ( $\pm$  standard error) cumulative H<sub>2</sub>S production during digestion of forage radish and dairy manure mixtures. (**A**) L H<sub>2</sub>S/kg substrate added, (**B**) L H<sub>2</sub>S/kg VS of substrate added, and (**C**) H<sub>2</sub>S content in the biogas.

Based solely on highest CH<sub>4</sub> production, 100% radish was the optimal digestion ratio. The VS to CH<sub>4</sub> conversion efficiency was similar with 40-100% radish. A typical field-scale digester (i.e. plug-flow; complete-mixed) may not be designed to accommodate the high solids content of the radish (9.2% TS) nor may a dairy farm digester be available solely for winter-time digestion of radish cover crops. Thus, having a co-digestion mixture containing a smaller proportion of radish may be more conducive to digester maintenance and operation. Since no differences in CH<sub>4</sub> production efficiency (VS basis) were observed from 40 to 100% radish nor between 20 and 40% radish, with 40% radish producing more CH<sub>4</sub> than 20% radish, in real-world operating conditions, it is likely that 40% radish would be a more feasible co-digestion ratio. Utilizing a 40% radish co-digestion mixture would optimize CH<sub>4</sub> production of a dairy manure-based digester, yield high quality biogas (58% CH<sub>4</sub>), and have significantly lower  $H_2S$  production at start-up. Considering a large amount of inoculum (ISR 10:1, by ww) was utilized in this experiment for radish digestion, future work will consist of determining the minimal amount of inoculum required. While inoculum provides alkalinity and the necessary microorganisms to accelerate biogas production, the biogas potential of inoculum is low because the material has been previously digested. Thus, it is desirable to reduce the inoculum level, particularly in a batch-loaded digester, in order to save space for substrate that has higher biogas potential.

#### 2.4.1.3 pH, organic matter transformations, and radish

## fractionation

While the radish substrate had a pH of 5.6, the addition of inoculum and/or manure provided a well buffered system in which no pH adjustments were required. The

pH of all treatments before and after digestion were within the optimal range for mesophilic AD (6.5 to 8.0) (Al Seadi et al., 2008). Although radish addition to dairy manure was shown to significantly increase  $CH_4$  production, the total VS reductions observed were low (24-40%) (Table 2.5), as this included the inoculum VS as well. This could be attributed to utilizing such a small amount of substrate in comparison to the largely recalcitrant inoculum.

Forage radish was found to have higher biodegradability than dairy manure. While the efficiency in converting VS to CH<sub>4</sub> were similar as radish content increased in the co-digestion mixture, the VS reductions increased as radish content increased ( $R^2 =$ 0.95) (Figure 2.4) likely due to the treatments containing larger radish additions had more VS initially and the VS of the radish was more readily degradable than the manure. However, the final VS concentrations for all treatments were similar (10.3 – 11.5 mg/g).

The VS results of the fractionated radish showed that dewatered radish had the highest VS content  $(130 \pm 0.5 \text{ mg/g})$  followed by the semi-slurry material  $(75.7 \pm 2.5 \text{ mg/g})$  and the liquid component, which was significantly lower at  $39.5 \pm 0.1 \text{ mg/g}$  (p-value = < 0.0001). As expected, dewatering the radish concentrated the VS, but also required additional energy to remove water from the radish substrate and reduced the quantity of readily available dissolved VS in the substrate. The semi-slurry material, as harvested from the field, contained 58% of the total VS concentration of the dewatered radish. The CH<sub>4</sub> production potential of the dewatered and liquid radish fractions would reveal if pretreatment was beneficial. The energy required for dewatering could potentially negate any energy gains from digestion.

	pH	[	TS	(mg/g)		VS	S(mg/g)	
	<u>Initial</u>	<u>Final</u>	Initial <sup>*</sup>	<u>Final</u>	TS Reduction, %	Initial <sup>*</sup>	<u>Final</u>	VS Reduction, %
		7.41						
0% Radish	7.55 (0.01)	(0.03)	22.0	18.8 (0.03)	14.2	14.1	11.1 (0.03)	21.3
		7.35						
20% Radish	7.50 (0.01)	(0.003)	22.8	18.7 (0.2)	17.9	14.9	11.3 (0.1)	24.1
		7.35						
40% Radish	7.52 (0.01)	(0.004)	23.6	19.3 (0.1)	18.3	15.7	11.5 (0.1)	26.7
		7.36						
50% Radish	7.56 (0.01)	(0.003)	24.0	18.8 (0.1)	21.4	16.1	11.1 (0.1)	30.8
		7.36						
60% Radish	7.50 (0.02)	(0.003)	24.4	18.0 (0.1)	26.1	16.5	10.4 (0.1)	36.5
		7.38						
80% Radish	7.48 (0.02)	(0.01)	25.2	17.9 (0.04)	28.7	17.2	10.4 (0.1)	39.7
		7.39						
100% Radish	7.44 (0.01)	(0.01)	26.0	18.0 (0.1)	30.6	18.0	10.3 (0.1)	42.6

**Table 2.5** Characteristics of BMP1 before and after digestion, showing averages (± standard error).

\*Initial TS and VS values were calculated from the individual feedstock values and therefore no standard error values are given.



Figure 2.4 Relationship between radish content and TS and VS reduction, respectively.

# 2.4.2 BMP2: Effect of harvest date

C:N ratios were determined for the radish shoots and roots separately throughout the growing season. As a result of fertilizer being injected into every other corn row in June and inefficient nitrogen uptake by the corn crop preceding the radish cover crop planting, bands of residual fertilizer remained in the soil approximately 150 cm apart. The forage radish growing directly over the residual fertilizer bands (high N zone) was distinctly larger and greener than the forage radish growing over the un-fertilized corn rows (low N zone). As the crop matured, the C:N ratio generally increased (Figure 2.5). There was a greater increase in the C:N ratio of the roots during the growing season compared to the shoots. The above-ground radish biomass, consisting of primarily shoots from the high and low nitrogen zones, were harvested, homogenized, and utilized as the co-digestion substrate. The C:N ratios of the above-ground radish substrates did not change significantly over time (p-value = 0.09), with the early-harvested shoots C:N ratio being 13.3  $\pm$  0.9 and the late-harvested shoots being 15.3  $\pm$  0.5. Although the C:N ratio of the roots (24 - 28:1) was found to be closer to the optimal AD C:N ratio (25-30:1) (Ward et al., 2008), the above-ground biomass was selected for ease of harvesting and to retain nutrient benefits from the root upon decay into the top soil.



**Figure 2.5** Carbon to nitrogen (C:N) ratios for the forage radish cover crops roots and shoots. High N and Low N correspond to the level of nitrogen amendment present in the field during growth of the radish.

The BMP results revealed that forage radish harvest date did not affect CH<sub>4</sub> production during co-digestion with dairy manure. Co-digestion experiments utilizing early harvest (October) and late harvest (December) radish substrate yielded cumulative (during 60 days) CH<sub>4</sub> production values of  $15.1 \pm 0.01$  L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate and  $14.9 \pm 0.3$  L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate, respectively (Table C.3), with approximately 66% CH<sub>4</sub> in the biogas. Since harvest date was shown not to influence CH<sub>4</sub> production, dairy farmers have the opportunity to incorporate forage radish into their dairy digesters as early as October when the ambient air temperature begins to decline and maintain enhanced CH<sub>4</sub> production throughout the crop's growing season.

## 2.5 Conclusions

Forage radish cover crops are a suitable co-substrate for optimizing CH<sub>4</sub> production in dairy manure digesters. Increasing the percentage of radish in the codigestion mixture increased CH<sub>4</sub> production and digestion efficiency in converting VS into CH<sub>4</sub> was similar for the co-digestion mixtures. As radish content increased, initial H<sub>2</sub>S production significantly increased. However, H<sub>2</sub>S production rapidly declined over time allowing for the CH<sub>4</sub> content of the biogas to greatly increase compared to manureonly. No synergistic effect on CH<sub>4</sub> production was observed during co-digestion. Harvest date of the cover crop did not influence CH<sub>4</sub> production suggesting that the radish can be harvested and added to a dairy manure-based digester from October until winter-kill to increase CH<sub>4</sub> production. Co-digestion with radish cover crops has the potential to increase the economic viability of AD technology, as forage radish was found to have 1.5 times more CH<sub>4</sub> potential than dairy manure on a VS basis.

## 2.6 Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the Northeast Sun Grant Initiative (NE10-040). Our sincere appreciation is extended to the University of Maryland's (UMD) Waste to Energy/Water Quality Laboratory, especially Veronika Zhiteneva, Holly Bowen, Kayoko Iwata, Akua Nkrumah, Freddy Witarsa, Katherine Klavon, Andrew Moss, and Maria Sol Lisboa. We would also like to thank the USDA personnel and the BARC dairy farm crew for their support and assistance.

# **Chapter 3: The Effect of Inoculum to Substrate Ratio on Forage Radish Cover Crop Digestion and Co-digestion with Dairy Manure**

#### **3.1** Abstract

Biochemical methane potential experiments were conducted to determine the effect of inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) on CH<sub>4</sub> production. Two substrates, 100% forage radish and a co-digestion mixture containing 40% radish (by wet weight) and dairy manure, were tested. Results revealed that the ISR and substrate composition strongly influenced CH<sub>4</sub> production, with higher ISRs and higher radish content increasing CH<sub>4</sub> production. At an ISR containing 65% inoculum, co-digestion of radish with manure yielded high CH<sub>4</sub> production (284  $\pm$  0.4 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS), while the 100% radish produced only 6  $\pm$  0.9 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS. However, increasing the ISR to 91% inoculum, specific CH<sub>4</sub> yields significantly increased to 345  $\pm$  2 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS and 372  $\pm$  12 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS for 40% and 100% radish, respectively. Regardless of the substrate type utilized, digestion instability was observed at ISRs containing  $\leq$  35% inoculum, resulting in an accumulation of butyric and valeric acids, low pH values ( $\leq$  5.64), and negligible CH<sub>4</sub> production.

## **3.2 Introduction**

Researchers are increasingly co-digesting with energy crops and agricultural residues to increase the economic viability and biogas production from manure-based anaerobic digestion (AD) (Abouelenien et al., 2014; Mata-Alvarez et al., 2014; Wei et al., 2014; Yue et al., 2013). Energy crops, such as maize ( $195 - 402 \text{ L CH}_4/\text{kg VS}$ ) (Gao et al., 2012; Golkowska and Greger, 2013), sorghum ( $260 - 390 \text{ L CH}_4/\text{kg VS}$ ) (Chynoweth et al., 2001), and switchgrass ( $191 - 309 \text{ L CH}_4/\text{kg VS}$ ) (Barbanti et al., 2014; Masse et

al., 2010), and agricultural residues, such as fruit and vegetable wastes (290 – 472 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Dias et al., 2014; Zuo et al., 2014), have been shown to have higher methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) production potential than dairy manure (150 – 190 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Belle et al., 2015). However, the introduction of co-substrates into a manure-based digester could potentially disrupt digestion stability if the system does not have adequate buffering capacity to maintain the circumneutral pH (6.5 – 8.0) necessary for methanogenic microorganisms. During mesophilic digestion (30 – 42°C), pH values below 6.0 or above 8.3 can be inhibitory (Al Seadi et al., 2008).

Anaerobic digestion is a microbial-based process, which involves four major stages: hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis. In hydrolysis, complex organic matter such as carbohydrates, proteins, and lipids are degraded by hydrolytic bacteria into simple soluble organic molecules. Through acidogenesis, volatile fatty acids (VFA) are formed from simple soluble organic molecules by acidogenic bacteria. In acetogenesis, VFAs and alcohols are converted by acetogens into acetate, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide, which are substrates for methanogenesis, which creates CH<sub>4</sub>-enriched biogas. With the AD process being sequential, the products of one stage are utilized as substrates in the subsequent stage. Thus in order to maintain a stable digester, the metabolic activity of the consortium of bacteria must be relatively balanced. Utilizing a readily degradable substrate can result in rapid hydrolysis and VFA production, which can lower the pH of the digester if the buffering capacity of the system is exceeded. Acidic conditions adversely affect the metabolic functions of methanogens, resulting in suppressed CH<sub>4</sub> production (Gerardi, 2003; Bouallagui et al., 2005; Ward et al., 2008).

A key factor to consider for operating a stable digester with optimized CH<sub>4</sub> production is determining the appropriate inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) particularly during start-up and in batch-loaded systems (Motte et al., 2013; Zhou et al., 2011). Inoculum provides acclimated anaerobic microorganisms to accelerate biogas production as well as alkalinity for improved buffering capacity (Gu et al., 2014). However, inoculum has low biogas potential due to its recalcitrance and previous digestion. Therefore, reducing the inoculum level in the digester will allow for the addition of more substrates that have higher biogas potential, but ample inoculum volume is needed for stable CH<sub>4</sub> production.

To date, results cited in the literature on the influence of the ISR on CH<sub>4</sub> production are highly variable. Dechrugsa et al. (2013) observed that increasing the ISR (g VS basis) of rubber latex digester inoculum and para-grass from 1.0 to 4.0 increased CH<sub>4</sub> production by 26% (from 370 to 466 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg TS added). Similarly, Wei et al. (2014) showed that increasing the ISR from 0.5 to 2.0, significantly increased biogas production for mono-digestion of barley straw, pig manure, and cattle manure. In contrast, Eskicioglu and Ghorbani (2011) determined that increasing the ISR of sewage treatment plant sludge inoculum and whole stillage from 0.46 to 3.67 decreased CH<sub>4</sub> production by 12% (from 458 to 401 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS). Similarly, Slimane et al. (2014) observed that with WWTP sludge inoculum and slaughterhouse waste that increasing the ISR from 0.3 to 1.0 decreased biogas production by more than 40% (from 864 to 504 mL). Zhou et al. (2011) observed that optimal CH<sub>4</sub> production occurred within a narrow range of ISRs, with the highest specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield for digestion of municipal WWTP sludge inoculum and fresh okara occurring at an ISR (VS basis) of 1.67 (495 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg

VS), which was also found to be similar to the specific CH<sub>4</sub> yields observed at ISRs 1.11 – 1.43 (478 – 490 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS). However, increasing the ISR from 1.67 to 10, decreased CH<sub>4</sub> production to 183 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS, while decreasing the ISR from 1.11 to 0.33 significantly reduced the CH<sub>4</sub> yield to 8 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS (Zhou et al., 2011). The review of literature suggests that the effect of the ISR on CH<sub>4</sub> production varies depending on the substrate and inoculum source.

Dairy farmers are increasingly growing cover crops (Bryant et al., 2013), such as forage radish, to achieve multiple soil and environmental benefits (Chen and Weil, 2010; Chen and Weil, 2011; Lawley et al., 2012; Weil et al., 2009). Forage radish cover crops, which would otherwise winter-kill, have the potential to be utilized as an AD co-substrate to increase biogas production of a manure-based digester during the fall and winter months, when the demand for supplemental heating is the highest. The benefits of the cover crop on the field for increased topsoil fertility and soil compaction alleviation are retained, as only the above-ground radish biomass is harvested for digestion. Our previous research has shown that utilizing the above-ground radish biomass as a cosubstrate significantly increased CH<sub>4</sub> production of a dairy manure-based digester (Belle et al., 2015). As a positive linear relationship was observed between radish content in the co-digestion mixture and CH<sub>4</sub> production when inoculum was not a limiting factor, the goal of this research was to investigate the influence of the ISR on CH<sub>4</sub> production as the inoculum level was reduced. To our knowledge, no literature is available regarding this effect when utilizing radish cover crops as a co-digestion substrate with dairy manure or when digested alone. The specific objectives of this research were to: (1) determine the effect of the ISR on CH<sub>4</sub> production when digesting only forage radish cover crops and

when co-digesting radish with dairy manure, (2) determine the effect of substrate composition on CH<sub>4</sub> production, and (3) determine the effect of VFA production and pH on CH<sub>4</sub> production at varying ISRs.

#### **3.3 Materials and Methods**

#### 3.3.1 Feedstocks

Forage radish cover crops (*Raphanus sativus* var. *longipinnatus*) and dairy manure (liquid fraction of solids-separated manure) were used as digestion substrates. The above-ground biomass of the forage radish cover crop was harvested from a USDA facility located in Beltsville, MD (39.03°, -76.89°). Planting of the radish cover crop occurred in August immediately after corn silage harvest. The radish was harvested by hand prior to winter-kill from randomized 1 m<sup>2</sup> quadrants. A stainless steel knife was used to harvest the above-ground biomass, which consisted of the leafy shoots plus a small portion of the fleshy root that extended above the soil surface. Each radish was cut approximately 3 to 5 cm from the soil surface and frozen in heavy-duty plastic bags until use. After thawing, a food processor was used to chop the radish into a semi-slurry material in order to simulate harvesting the radish in the field utilizing a rotary mower and forage chopper (Belle et al., 2015).

Dairy manure was obtained from the 120-cow USDA research dairy facility. The dairy manure was scraped and stored in a manure pit prior to solids separation with a FAN separator, which removes roughly 80% of the solids. The liquid fraction of the separated manure is treated in a mesophilic (25-35°C) complete-mix anaerobic digester

(540 m<sup>3</sup>). Inoculum from this digester was obtained from a sampling port located inside the digester and was utilized in this batch study.

#### 3.3.2 Experimental design

To determine the influence of the ISR on CH<sub>4</sub> production, a biochemical methane potential (BMP) experiment was conducted based on a modified method of Moody et al. (2011). Two substrates were utilized, radish cover crops only and a co-digestion mixture containing 40% radish and 60% dairy manure, by wet weight (ww). The BMP experiment was conducted using 36 glass serum bottles (300 mL), with three replicates of 12 treatment groups. All feedstocks were added on a ww basis. The amount of substrate added to each bottle was kept constant. The inoculum was added at varying ratios, resulting in ISRs containing inoculum additions of 65%, 50%, 35%, 20%, 10%, and 0% (ww basis) for each substrate (Table 3.1). The ISRs ranged from 0 – 0.48 on a gram VS basis, with treatments containing the 40% radish co-digestion mixture as substrate having higher ISR values due to the substrate having lower VS content. The results were compared to our previous radish co-digestion study using an ISR containing 91% inoculum (ww), which was determined to be a non-limiting quantity of inoculum (data unpublished).

To account for biogas production from residual biodegradable material in the digester inoculum, triplicate controls containing only inoculum were incubated and sampled simultaneously to allow subtraction of biogas production not attributed to the substrates. Nutrient media was not utilized as dairy manure has been shown to contain the necessary micronutrients for digestion (Al Seadi et al., 2008).

The bottles were purged with N<sub>2</sub>:CO<sub>2</sub> gas (70:30 vv) to displace residual oxygen and capped with a rubber septum to create an anaerobic environment. The bottles were placed on a continuous orbital shaker (New Brunswick Scientific; Edison, NJ USA; model Innova 2300) at 117 RPM and incubated in a darkened environmental chamber at 35°C. The BMP was conducted for 60-days, which equaled the time period in which biogas production had largely ceased, with daily biogas production in the final 7 days of incubation contributing < 1% of the cumulative biogas production.

## 3.3.3 Biogas analysis

Biogas production and CH<sub>4</sub> content of the produced biogas were measured approximately daily for the first week, every other day during the second week of the study, bi-weekly, and weekly, with the frequency of biogas measurement based on the quantity of biogas produced. The produced biogas was quantified by volumetric displacement using a wetted glass gas-tight graduated syringe (50 mL) (Popper & Sons, Inc.; New York USA) inserted through the rubber septum of the BMP bottle into the gas headspace with pressure displacing the syringe plunger until equilibrium. The biogas was analyzed for CH<sub>4</sub> content using a gas chromatograph (Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Shanghai China; model 7890 A) with a thermal conductivity detector (TCD) at 250°C, an HP-Plot Q capillary column (Agilent J&W; USA), and He as the carrier gas at 8.6 ml/min. The oven operated at 60°C for 2 min and subsequently ramped at 30°C/min to 240°C.

	Inoculum (g <sub>ww</sub> )	<b>Radish</b> (g <sub>ww</sub> )	Manure (g <sub>ww</sub> )	Inoculum (g VS)	<b>Radish</b> (g VS)	Manure (g VS)	<b>Total</b> (g VS)
Substrate: 100% R	adish						
ISR 65	37.14	20.00	0.00	0.52	1.66	0.00	2.18
ISR 50	20.00	20.00	0.00	0.28	1.66	0.00	1.94
ISR 35	10.77	20.00	0.00	0.15	1.66	0.00	1.81
ISR 20	5.00	20.00	0.00	0.07	1.66	0.00	1.73
ISR 10	2.22	20.00	0.00	0.03	1.66	0.00	1.69
ISR 0	0.00	20.00	0.00	0.00	1.66	0.00	1.66
Substrate: 40% Ra	dish/60% Manure						
ISR 65	37.14	8.00	12.00	0.52	0.66	0.42	1.61
ISR 50	20.00	8.00	12.00	0.28	0.66	0.42	1.37
ISR 35	10.77	8.00	12.00	0.15	0.66	0.42	1.24
ISR 20	5.00	8.00	12.00	0.07	0.66	0.42	1.16
ISR 10	2.22	8.00	12.00	0.03	0.66	0.42	1.12
ISR 0	0.00	8.00	12.00	0.00	0.66	0.42	1.09

 Table 3.1 Feedstock loading for the inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) study.

#### 3.3.4 Feedstock characterization

The inoculum, dairy manure, and forage radish were characterized for pH, total solids (TS), and volatile solids (VS) (Table 3.2). The pH was determined with a glass electrode and an Accumet AB 15 pH meter. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater (APHA, 2005) were used to determine TS (Method 2540B) and VS (Method 2540 E). Each treatment was analyzed before and after digestion for pH and VFAs. For VFA determination, acidified (pH 2.0) samples were centrifuged for 20 min at 5,000 RPM and the supernatant filtered stepwise to 0.22 µm. The liquid filtrate was analyzed for VFA concentration using a gas chromatograph (Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Shanghai China; model 7890 A) with a flame ionization detector (FID) at 300°C, a DB-FFAP capillary column (Agilent J&W; USA), and He as the carrier gas at 1.80 ml/min. The injection temperature was held at 250°C and the oven operated at 100°C for 2 min and subsequently ramped at 10°C/min for a total run time of 10 min. The GC was equipped with an Agilent Technologies 7693 autosampler. Total volatile fatty acid (TVFA) concentrations are expressed as acetic acid.

	Inoculum	Dairy Manure	Forage Radish
рН	7.94 (0.01)	7.82 (0.01)	5.60 (0.01)
TS(mg/g)	22.5 (0.4)	46.6 (0.03)	94.4 (0.2)
<b>VS</b> $(mg/g)$	14.0 (0.1)	35.3 (0.03)	82.8 (0.1)

Table 3.2 Characteristics of feedstocks.

#### 3.3.5 Statistical analysis

The experimental design was a completely randomized design. The 6x2 factorial treatment structure contained 2 factors, ISR and substrate composition, resulting in 12 replicated treatment combinations. A multi-way ANOVA was conducted using *SAS 9.3* (SAS, Cary, NC) to determine significant differences for average CH<sub>4</sub> yields. Due to a significant interaction between the two factors, contrast statements were conducted on simple effect means to make comparisons. The level of significance was held at 0.05 for all statistical analyses. Reported values are given as means with standard errors.

#### **3.4 Results and Discussion**

#### 3.4.1 Methane production for the 40% radish co-digestion mixture

The highest specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield for a 40% radish co-digestion mixture was observed at an ISR containing 65% inoculum ( $284 \pm 0.4$  L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) followed by 50% inoculum ( $239 \pm 4$  L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Figure 3.1; Table D.1). Although a large volume of CH<sub>4</sub> was produced, reducing the inoculum from 65% to 50% (ww basis), significantly decreased CH<sub>4</sub> production (p-value < 0.001). These findings are comparable to those reported by Dechrugsa et al. (2013) where para-grass and pig manure co-digestion mixtures resulted in higher CH<sub>4</sub> production occurring at higher ISRs. An ISR containing 65% and 50% inoculum (ww basis) corresponded to an ISR of 0.48 and 0.26, respectively, on a VS basis (Table 3.3). Similar to results from Kawai et al. (2014), increasing the ISR (VS basis) from 0.25 to 0.50, increased CH<sub>4</sub> production (162 - 236 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS). However in their study utilizing food waste (low labile organic fraction) as substrate and sewage sludge inoculum produced 17% - 32% less CH<sub>4</sub> than observed with

radish co-digestion. Overall, with a 40% radish co-digestion mixture, decreasing the ISR below 50% inoculum adversely effected CH<sub>4</sub> production, with zero to negligible CH<sub>4</sub> production observed at ISRs containing  $\leq 35\%$  inoculum. The ISRs containing  $\leq 35\%$  inoculum corresponded to an ISR of  $\leq 0.14$  on a VS basis and comparisons of CH<sub>4</sub> yields could not be made to other studies as ISRs (VS basis) were  $\geq 0.25$  in the literature.

With an ISR containing 65% inoculum, 91% of the cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> production occurred the first 28 days of the 60-day incubation period (Figure 3.1). Methane production occurred immediately on Day 1, reaching a maximum CH<sub>4</sub> production rate on Day 5, followed by a steady decrease in the production rate throughout the remaining incubation period. The CH<sub>4</sub> production rate was lower as the ISR was reduced to 50% inoculum. Similarly, Kawai et al. (2014) observed that the lag in CH<sub>4</sub> yield increased as the ISR decreased. For an ISR containing 50% inoculum, the maximum CH<sub>4</sub> production rate was not observed until Day 21 (Figure 3.1). After Day 21, the CH<sub>4</sub> production rate remained relatively stable until after Day 46, when production began to taper off. In addition, the ISR containing 50% inoculum had the most variability during the period of high CH<sub>4</sub> production, suggesting that within each triplicate bottle there may have been digestion conditions that affected CH<sub>4</sub> production at varying rates among the bottles. However cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> production values of the triplicate bottles were similar by Day 60.

The CH<sub>4</sub> concentration of the biogas ( $61 \pm 0.5\%$ ) was stable after Day 11 digesting with an ISR containing 65% inoculum. However for 50% inoculum, the CH<sub>4</sub> concentration gradually increased over time, surpassing the CH<sub>4</sub> concentration of the

65% inoculum treatment by Day 39, averaging  $65 \pm 0.7\%$  from Days 39 – 60 (Figure 3.1).

Substrate	40% Radish/60% Manure		100% Radish		
	$\underline{ISR}^{b}$	<u>L CH4/kg VS</u>	$\underline{ISR^{b}}$	<u>L CH4/kg VS</u>	
<i>ISR 65<sup>a</sup></i>	0.48	284 (0.4)	0.31	6.15 (0.91)	
ISR 50	0.26	239 (4)	0.17	0.67 (0.05)	
ISR 35	0.14	2.46 (0.03)	0.09	0.02 (0.02)	
ISR 20	0.06	0.86 (0.08)	0.04	0 (0)	
ISR 10	0.03	0.48 (0.03)	0.02	0 (0)	
ISR 0	0	0.03 (0.01)	0	0 (0)	

Table 3.3 Average cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> production at varying ISRs.

<sup>a</sup> Inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) containing 0-65% inoculum (ww basis). <sup>b</sup> VS basis

Values are means ( $\pm$  standard error) from triplicate samples.



**Figure 3.1** Average ( $\pm$  standard error) CH<sub>4</sub> production from 40% radish (ww) co-digested with dairy manure at different inoculum to substrate ratios (ISR, by ww). (A) L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS of substrate added, (B) daily CH<sub>4</sub> production rate, and (C) CH<sub>4</sub> content in the biogas.

## 3.4.2 Methane production for 100% radish

Increasing the ISR also increased CH<sub>4</sub> production when utilizing 100% radish as substrate (Figure 3.2). However, the specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield for 100% radish at an ISR containing 65% inoculum ( $6.15 \pm 0.91$  L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) was 98% lower compared to 40% radish as substrate.

With 65% inoculum, CH<sub>4</sub> production started immediately on Day 1, with the maximum CH<sub>4</sub> production rate occurring on Day 2 followed by a rapid decline in CH<sub>4</sub> production. By Day 4, the daily rate of CH<sub>4</sub> production was < 1 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS.day. The CH<sub>4</sub> concentration of the biogas was also 46% lower than with co-digestion, averaging 15  $\pm$  0.2% during incubation (Figure 3.2). Below an ISR containing 65% inoculum, the specific CH<sub>4</sub> yields were < 1 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS. Utilizing 65% inoculum and 100% radish as substrate, on a VS basis the ISR (0.31) was in the ISR range of 0.26 and 0.48 (ISRs containing 50 and 65% inoculum, respectively, with 40% radish as substrate). However CH<sub>4</sub> yields were drastically lower utilizing 100% radish as substrate, further highlighting that substrate composition as well as the quantity of inoculum affects CH<sub>4</sub> production (Table 3.3).



**Figure 3.2** Average ( $\pm$  standard error) CH<sub>4</sub> production from 100% radish at different inoculum to substrate ratios (ISR, by ww). (A) L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS of substrate added, (B) daily CH<sub>4</sub> production rate, and (C) CH<sub>4</sub> content in the biogas.

Overall, the statistical output reveals that there was a significant interaction between ISR and substrate composition (p-value < 0.001). There was a significant difference in CH<sub>4</sub> production, with higher inoculum additions producing more CH<sub>4</sub>. However, the magnitude of increase in CH<sub>4</sub> production was dependent on substrate composition, with the 40% radish co-digestion mixture producing significantly more CH<sub>4</sub> than 100% radish at an ISR containing 65% inoculum (p-value < 0.001). Thus, in order to obtain enhanced CH<sub>4</sub> production, it is recommended to not reduce the ISR below 65% inoculum when digesting 40% radish in a dairy manure-based digester.

## 3.4.3 Co-digestion and 100% radish at an ISR with 91% inoculum

In a prior study, it was determined that increasing the radish content of a dairy manure co-digestion mixture increased CH<sub>4</sub> production when utilizing an ISR containing 91% inoculum. In that study, the highest specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield was observed with 100% radish ( $372 \pm 12 \text{ L CH}_4/\text{kg VS}$ ), while the 40% radish co-digestion mixture produced 345  $\pm 2 \text{ L CH}_4/\text{kg VS}$  (data unpublished). These CH<sub>4</sub> yields for 100% and 40% radish were greater than the CH<sub>4</sub> yields observed when digesting with an ISR containing 65% inoculum, the highest ISR tested in the current study. This finding suggests that increasing the ISR beyond 65% inoculum continues to increase CH<sub>4</sub> production (Figure 3.3). With 100% radish, increasing the ISR from 65% to 91% inoculum had a greater effect on CH<sub>4</sub> production (366 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) than what was observed utilizing the 40% radish co-digestion mixture as substrate (61 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS).

For 40% radish, between the ISRs containing 50% and 91% inoculum, there appears to be a strong positive linear relationship ( $R^2$ = 0.996) between inoculum quantity and CH<sub>4</sub> production. A similar relationship could not be determined for 100% radish as

substrate, but the data does suggest that a large amount of inoculum > 65% is required for enhanced CH<sub>4</sub> production, especially when operated in batch mode. Overall, although there was a significant difference in CH<sub>4</sub> yields for 40% radish and 100% radish when utilizing an ISR containing 65% inoculum, increasing the ISR to 91% inoculum, CH<sub>4</sub> production was found to be statistically similar. These results are similar to those reported by Dechrugsa et al. (2013), where combining higher ISRs with higher para-grass mix ratios yielded higher CH<sub>4</sub> production. Pig farm digestate inoculum and 100% para-grass had the highest CH<sub>4</sub> yield, with increasing the ISR from 1.0 to 4.0 increasing CH<sub>4</sub> yield from 332 to 522 L/kg TS, with the optimal ISR occurring between 3.0 and 4.0.





## 3.4.4 Effect of volatile fatty acids and pH on methane production

The 40% radish co-digestion mixtures had an average influent TVFA concentration of 5.23  $\pm$  0.30 g/L pre-digestion, while the 100% radish mixtures had a lower average TVFA concentration (0.55  $\pm$  0.09 g/L) pre-digestion. The difference in

TVFA concentrations is due to the liquid manure contributing soluble VFAs while the solid radish substrate was not solubilized pre-digestion.

The pH values of the 40% radish co-digestion treatments pre-digestion ranged from 6.82 - 7.55, with treatments containing a larger quantity of inoculum having higher pH values (Figure 3.4). The 100% radish treatments had lower pH values, ranging from 5.60 - 7.15 (Figure 3.5), due to inclusion of more radish substrate, which has an average pH of 5.6. The additional buffering capacity of the manure also likely contributed to the higher pH values of the 40% radish co-digestion treatments. No pH or alkalinity adjustments were made prior to digestion. The optimal pH range for mesophilic digestion is 6.5 - 8.0. All treatments were within the optimal pH range pre-digestion, except the 100% radish treatments at an ISR containing less than 20% inoculum, where pH values were below the desired pH range (pH  $\leq 6.25$ ).

Post-digestion, VFAs were not detected in the 40% radish treatments when the ISR contained  $\geq$  50% inoculum (Figure 3.4), indicating that the VFAs were consumed by the methanogens, as high volumes of CH<sub>4</sub> were produced (239 – 284 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) and pH values remained within the optimal range. However, the 40% radish treatments post-digestion with an ISR containing  $\leq$  35% inoculum had an accumulation of VFA production (13.0 – 15.6 g TVFA/L), with pH values dropping below 6.0 and negligible CH<sub>4</sub> production (< 3 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS). The ISRs containing  $\leq$  35% inoculum had on average an acetic to propionic acid ratio of 1.5, with a decrease in the inoculum proportion leading to an increase in butyric (1.77 – 3.27 g/L) and valeric acid (1.17 – 2.24 g/L) production.



**Figure 3.4** Characteristics of 40% radish (ww) co-digested with dairy manure at different inoculum to substrate ratios (ISR). Panels represent: (A) pre-digestion VFA concentrations, (B) post-digestion VFA concentrations, and (C) pH values.



**Figure 3.5** Characteristics of 100% radish at different inoculum to substrate ratios (ISR). Panels represent: (A) pre-digestion VFA concentrations, (B) post-digestion VFA concentrations, and (C) pH values.

For the 100% radish treatments post-digestion, all ISRs had an accumulation of VFA production, averaging  $13.5 \pm 0.1$  g TVFA/L (Figure 3.5). The ISRs containing  $\leq$  10% inoculum were not included in this assessment due to the small volume of liquid sample obtained for VFA determination, which may not have been representative of the treatment. The pH values of the 100% radish treatments post-digestion ranged from 3.69 – 5.27, with CH<sub>4</sub> production being adversely effected (< 7 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) at each ISR. There was also an accumulation of butyric acid (5.99 – 7.26 g/L), with a decrease in the proportion of inoculum increasing valeric acid production post-digestion.

Comparing post-digestion VFA production utilizing a 40% radish co-digestion mixture and 100% radish as substrates at ISRs containing 35% and 20% inoculum, the acetic acid concentrations were similar (7.25 - 8.4 g/L). However, the 100% radish treatments had a larger increase in acetic acid production during digestion, likely due to the rapid hydrolysis of the radish substrate. Post-digestion, the acetic to propionic acid ratio was higher (4.47) in the 100% radish treatments, with three times more butyric acid production, but less valeric acid production than the 40% radish co-digestion treatments.

Overall, the data suggests that increased ISRs and utilizing manure as a cosubstrate for radish digestion aids in buffering the digestion environment from changes in pH and circumvents souring of the digester as evidenced by the accumulation of VFAs. Butyric and valeric acid accumulation strongly corresponded with digester failure, with a butyric to valeric acid ratio > 1 (g/L basis) resulting in negligible CH<sub>4</sub> production (< 7 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS). Similarly, Zhang et al. (2013) observed that CH<sub>4</sub> production was more favorable when acidic substrates were co-digested with cattle manure and suggested that the alkalinity of cattle manure may help to buffer the system when pH adjustments are not utilized in the batch system. Furthermore, Jiang et al. (2012) demonstrated that the addition of cattle slurry to vegetable waste (pH 5.77) improved digester performance, with accumulated VFAs consumed over time.

There are several possible reasons for CH<sub>4</sub> suppression as the quantity of inoculum was reduced in the batch system. By reducing the inoculum quantity, the quantity of methanogens present may not have been sufficient. Methanogens have a slow generation time (Wellinger et al., 2013). As the population increases over time, the rate of CH<sub>4</sub> production increases. When the ISR was reduced from 65% to 50% inoculum in the radish co-digestion mixture, there appeared to be adequate consumption of VFAs and H<sub>2</sub> initially, although at a slower rate, which prevented the accumulation of acids and low pH. However, when the ISR was reduced below 50% inoculum, even with co-digestion, VFAs accumulated in excess of the buffering capacity of the system, as pH values declined with suppressed methanogen metabolic activity observed.

While the methanogen population could have been abundant initially in the 100% radish treatment at an ISR containing 65% inoculum, rapid hydrolysis of the readily degradable radish substrate and subsequent VFA production could have occurred at a faster rate than the methanogens were able to utilize the substrates. If acetate and H<sub>2</sub> accumulated in the digester, the rate of acetogenesis would likely decrease due to acetogenic bacteria favoring a low hydrogen partial pressure (Wellinger et al., 2013). With suppressed acetogenesis, an accumulation of longer chain fatty acids, such as butyric and valeric acids, could occur as VFA conversion into acetate diminishes. As methanogens were unable to directly utilize these longer chain fatty acids prior to
conversion into acetate, the buffering capacity of the system was likely exceeded (Gerardi, 2003).

#### **3.5** Conclusions

Anaerobic digestion of two substrates, 100% forage radish and 40% radish codigested with dairy manure, was investigated at varying ISRs. A key finding from this research was that as the quantity of radish was increased in the digester, a larger quantity of inoculum was required during batch digestion to achieve enhanced CH<sub>4</sub> production. This trend was verified using VFA analyses. However, by co-digesting the forage radish with a substrate such as dairy manure, which also has methanogens and alkalinity, the quantity of inoculum added to the digestion system could be greatly reduced. Digestion instability was observed for each substrate at ISRs containing  $\leq$  35% inoculum, resulting in an accumulation of VFAs, low pH values ( $\leq$  5.64), and negligible CH<sub>4</sub> production.

# 3.6 Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the Northeast Sun Grant Initiative (NE10-040). Our sincere appreciation is extended to the University of Maryland's (UMD) Waste to Energy/Water Quality Laboratory, especially Ciere Kenny, Chandler Wang, Veronika Zhiteneva, and Holly Bowen. We would also like to thank the USDA personnel and the BARC dairy farm crew for their support and assistance.

# Chapter 4: Anaerobic Co-digestion of Forage Radish and Dairy Manure in Complete Mix Digesters

Ashley J. Belle, Stephanie Lansing, Walter Mulbry, and Ray R. Weil

This chapter is published as:

Belle, A.J., Lansing, S., Mulbry, W., Weil, R.R., 2015. Anaerobic co-digestion of forage

radish and dairy manure in complete mix digesters. Bioresource Technology. 178, 230-

237. doi:10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.036

#### 4.1 Abstract

Pilot-scale digesters (850 L) were used to quantify CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S production when using forage radish cover crops as a co-digestion feedstock in dairy manure-based digesters. During two trials, triplicate mixed digesters were operated in batch mode with manureonly or radish + manure (27% and 13% radish by wet weight in Trial 1 and 2, respectively). Co-digestion increased CH<sub>4</sub> production by 11% and 39% in Trial 1 and 2, respectively. As H<sub>2</sub>S production rapidly declined in the radish + manure digesters, CH<sub>4</sub> production increased reaching high levels of CH<sub>4</sub> ( $\geq$  67%) in the biogas. Over time, radish co-digestion lowered the H<sub>2</sub>S concentration in the biogas (0.20%) beyond that of manure-only digestion (0.34 – 0.40%), although cumulative H<sub>2</sub>S production in the radish + manure digesters was higher than manure-only. Extrapolated to a farm-scale (200 cows) continuous mixed digester, co-digesting with radish could generate 3150 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>/month, providing a farmer additional revenue up to \$3125/month in electricity sales.

# 4.2 Introduction

Dairy manure has a low energy density in comparison to other anaerobic digestion (AD) feedstocks and economic returns from manure-only digestion are often low to negative (Klavon et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2011). However, biogas production from dairy digesters can become a more economically viable practice by using additional biodegradable feedstocks located in close proximity to the dairy facility (El-Mashad and Zhang, 2010). Co-digesting dairy manure with other substrates, such as fats, oils, and grease (Lansing et al., 2010), slaughterhouse waste (Alvarez and Linden, 2008), or energy crops (Amon et al., 2007) with higher biogas potential have been shown to

increase biogas production by 100 – 500% (El-Mashad and Zhang, 2007; Lansing et al., 2010), thus increasing the feasibility of AD technology, especially for small to mid-sized dairy farmers (Klavon et al., 2013). Energy crop digestion is increasingly utilized due to the higher methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) yield relative to animal manure (120 – 300 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Al Seadi et al., 2008; Lansing et al., 2010). Some of the most widely used energy crops are maize (205 – 450 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Bruni et al., 2010; Braun et al., 2009), switchgrass (298 – 467 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Masse et al., 2010; Braun et al., 2009), sugar beets (236 – 381 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Umetsu et al., 2006; Braun et al., 2009), sunflower grass (154 – 400 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS), and Sudan grass (213 – 303 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Amon et al., 2007; Braun et al., 2009).

Forage radish is listed as a top cover crop species for the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic regions of the United States (SARE, 2007), with over 15,000 acres planted in Winter 2012 in the state of Maryland alone. Traditionally, corn-silage based dairy farmers leave the land fallow after harvesting corn silage in August. Planting forage radish as a winter cover crop immediately after corn harvest will not interfere with food supply. After several consecutive nights with temperatures below -6°C, the radish cover crop winter-kills and rapidly decays, leaving behind a clean and enhanced seedbed. Utilizing radish as a winter cover crop results in multiple soil and environmental benefits, such as erosion control, improved soil fertility, and the alleviation of soil compaction (Gruver et al., 2014).

Forage radish is a Brassica crop and has a relatively high sulfur content (7.8 – 8.2 g/kg dry matter in the shoots) (Lounsbury, 2013). During AD, organic sulfur decomposition leads to hydrogen sulfide (H<sub>2</sub>S) production, as sulfate reducing bacteria

(SRB) utilize acetate to reduce  $SO_4^{2-}$  to  $H_2S$ . The most common pathway for CH<sub>4</sub> production is the acetoclastic pathway, where methanogens split acetate to form CH<sub>4</sub> and CO<sub>2</sub>. Since SRB and methanogens both utilize acetate and H<sub>2</sub> as primary substrates, competition for available resources can occur during AD (Liu and Whitman, 2008). As sulfate reduction is more energetically favorable (-152 kJ/mol) than methanogenesis (CO<sub>2</sub> reduction: -131 kJ/mol; acetoclastic pathway: -37 kJ/mol) (Madigan et al., 2012), CH<sub>4</sub> production can be suppressed when H<sub>2</sub>S production is high due to substrate limitation (Liu and Whitman, 2008). For example, Khanal and Huang (2003) found that during anaerobic treatment of high-sulfate wastewater, increasing sulfate concentration from 1,000 to 5,000 mg/L significantly increased H<sub>2</sub>S production and decreased CH<sub>4</sub> production by 50%.

Hydrogen sulfide reacts with water vapor present in the biogas producing sulfuric acid, which can corrode piping and engine units. The H<sub>2</sub>S content of biogas generated from animal manure ranges from 1000 to 3000 ppm (0.10 - 0.30%) (Al Seadi et al., 2008). The end use of the biogas dictates the extent to which the H<sub>2</sub>S must be removed prior to usage. In combined heat and power (CHP) engines, the H<sub>2</sub>S concentration should not exceed 100-500 ppm (0.01 - 0.05%) to prevent corrosion (Deublein and Steinhauser, 2011). Considering that biogas engines are often the largest cost associated with AD systems (Klavon et al., 2013) and that the majority of AD systems in the U.S. use the produced biogas for CHP or sole electricity production (AgSTAR, 2013), it is imperative that the H<sub>2</sub>S concentration is not drastically increased when digesting sulfur-rich feedstocks, such as forage radish.

A major barrier to AD installation in the U.S. has been the lack of data on biogas potential in the literature, especially at the field-scale level. The data that is available in the literature focuses primarily on  $CH_4$  production, with less attention to the effect of feedstock selection on  $H_2S$  production. This research investigates forage radish cover crops as a renewable source of energy in terms of CH<sub>4</sub> production, the effect of radish codigestion on  $H_2S$  production, and the relationship between  $H_2S$  production and methanogenesis limitations. Specifically, this research seeks to determine if additional benefits can be obtained from the forage radish by harvesting the above-ground material prior to winter kill and utilizing it as a co-substrate in dairy digesters to increase CH4 production. The overall objectives of this research were: (1) to determine potential CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S production when co-digesting forage radish cover crops with dairy manure in batch pilot-scale complete mix digesters, (2) to determine how the percentage of forage radish in the co-digestion mixture affects CH<sub>4</sub> production, and (3) to quantify the radish crop acreage required for co-digestion at the farm-scale level and how inclusion of radish cover crops affects on-farm energy production potential. The results can be used by dairy farmers to maximize CH<sub>4</sub> production in digesters during the winter when the demand for supplemental heating is the greatest.

#### **4.3 Materials and Methods**

Pilot-scale complete mix anaerobic digesters were designed and constructed to evaluate the anaerobic co-digestion of forage radish (*Raphanus sativus* var. *longipinnatus*) and the liquid fraction of solids-separated dairy manure under field conditions. The research was conducted at the USDA Beltsville Agricultural Research Center (BARC) dairy farm (39.03°, -76.89°) located in Beltsville, Maryland.

#### 4.3.1 Feedstocks

Forage radish was grown as a cover crop immediately after corn silage harvest, sown in August and harvested in early December prior to a predicted hard freeze. To harvest, the cover crop was first mowed with a rotary mower as close to ground level as practical (3 - 5 cm). This mow cut the leafy shoots plus a portion of the fleshy root that extended above ground into a windrow. A forage chopper then passed over the windrow to harvest the above-ground biomass and the chopped material was blown into an adjacent wagon for collection. During this process, the radish biomass was transformed into a semi-slurry state. The harvested forage radish biomass was stored in sealed plastic buckets and frozen until use. Due to the heterogeneity of the harvested radish particle size (up to 10 cm), an industrial vertical cutter (Hobart Corporation; Troy, Ohio USA; model VCM-40) was used to further reduce the radish particle size to less than 3 cm to prevent damaging the pumping system and clogging the digester piping during digester loading.

Solids-separated dairy manure was obtained from BARC's dairy research unit. This 120-cow dairy uses a scrape system to collect raw manure and a FAN separator (0.64 cm mesh screen) to remove roughly 80% of the solids prior to treatment in a mesophillic complete mix digester (540 m<sup>3</sup>). The solids-separated dairy manure was collected from the holding pit on three different dates for the experiments. Total solids content of three sampling events varied 2 - 4%, primarily due to differences in water usage in the barn. Inoculum used in the batch digesters to accelerate biogas production was obtained from a sampling port located inside the BARC complete mix digester. The BARC digester is fed daily with the liquid fraction of solids-separated dairy manure and operates at  $25 - 35^{\circ}$ C. The inoculum substrate from inside the BARC digester had an

average pH of 7.5, and total solids (TS) and volatile solids (VS) concentration of 24 and 15 mg/g, respectively (Table 4.1).

#### 4.3.2 Experimental design

Six pilot-scale complete mix anaerobic digesters were fabricated from 850 L (working volume) high-density polyethylene conical tanks (Ace Roto-Mold; Hospers, Iowa USA) equipped with silicone adhesive rubber heating blankets (BriskHeat; Columbus, Ohio USA; model SRP series) and radiant foil shells to maintain a 35°C digestion temperature. Custom made top-mounted stirrers (using 1/15 hp Dayton right angle gear motors driving 25 cm diameter beveled mixing blades at 22 rpm) were used to agitate the contents twice daily for 15-minute periods. Two field trials were conducted using six digesters operating in batch mode for 33 days, which corresponded to the time period in which large decreases in daily biogas production were observed, with < 1% of the cumulative biogas production being produced daily. After the first 33-day trial, the six digesters were emptied and cleaned before being refilled for the second trial. For each trial, all digesters were loaded on the same day with the exception of the manure-only controls in Trial 1, which were loaded the following day. The digesters were operated in batch mode. All digesters contained 776 kg of total feedstock (Table 4.2). The dairy's truck scale ( $\pm$  20 lbs) was used to weigh all feedstocks into a secondary container. Previous experiments demonstrated that the radish had a tendency to settle out of the manure. Therefore, the feedstocks were manually stirred in the secondary container while being transferred with a 1.5 hp centrifugal pump (Dayton; China) into each digester.

	M1		RM1 (27% radish:73% manure)			M2 and RM2 (13% radish:87% manure)		
	<u>Inoculum</u>	<u>Manure</u>	<u>Inoculum</u>	<u>Manure</u>	<u>Radish</u>	<u>Inoculum</u>	<u>Manure</u>	<u>Radish</u>
рН	7.5 (0.03)	6.9 (0.02)	7.5 (0.02)	6.9 (0)	4.6 (0.1)	7.5 (0.01)	7.2 (0.01)	4.3 (0.01)
<b>sCOD</b> ( <i>g/L</i> )	3.95 (0.01)	11.9 (0.03)	4.08 (0.07)	12.8 (0.03)	51.9 (0.3)	3.15 (0.05)	8.03 (0.14)	51.2 (0.1)
<b>TS</b> ( <i>mg/g</i> )	25.7 (0.1)	30.8 (0.4)	25.6 (0.02)	35.2 (0.02)	112 (4)	20.6 (0.1)	23.6 (0.1)	106 (0.4)
<b>VS</b> $(mg/g)$	16.0 (0.1)	22.3 (0.3)	16.0 (0.01)	26.1 (0.1)	89.6 (3.2)	12.7 (0.1)	17.2 (0.1)	81.4 (0.3)

Table 4.1 Feedstock characterization represented by average ( $\pm$  standard error).

 Table 4.2 Feedstock loading.

	M1	RM1 (27% radish:73% manure)	M2	RM2 (13% radish:87% manure)
Inoculum, kg <sub>ww</sub>	411	411	411	411
Manure, kg <sub>ww</sub>	365	268	365	317
Radish, kg <sub>ww</sub>	0	97	0	49
Total, kg <sub>ww</sub>	776	776	776	776
Inoculum, kgVS	6.58	6.58	5.34	5.34
Manure, kgVS	8.04	6.98	6.21	5.39
Radish, kgVS	0	8.74	0	3.98
Total, kgVS	14.6	22.3	11.6	14.7
<b>ISR</b> <sup>a</sup>	1:1.2	1:2.4	1:1.2	1:1.8

<sup>a</sup> Inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) calculated on a VS basis.

Results from previous laboratory-scale co-digestion experiments using dairy manure and forage radish mixtures showed that the optimal inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) for radish and manure digestion was 65:35 on a wet weight (ww) basis (data unpublished). Due to differences in the VS content of the feedstocks during the laboratory and field trials, the ISR was adjusted for the pilot-scale experiment. All complete mix digesters were loaded in each field trial with 53% inoculum and 47% substrate (ww basis), with the substrate consisting of manure-only (control) or radish + manure (Table 4.2). Since the VS content of forage radish is over three times greater than dairy manure, the total amount of substrate (ww basis) added to each digester was kept constant to avoid substrate quantity being a confounding variable in the comparative study. As a result, the digesters had different VS contents. To make comparisons between treatments, the biogas data was normalized by the amount of VS added.

For Trials 1 and 2, three digesters contained manure-only (M1 and M2, respectively) and had an ISR of 1:1.2 (VS basis). For Trial 1, three radish + manure digesters contained 27% radish and 73% dairy manure (ww) (RM1), which corresponded to an ISR of 1:2.4. For Trial 2, the three radish + manure digesters (RM2) contained 13% radish and 87% dairy manure (ww), which corresponded to an ISR of 1:1.8 (Table 4.2).

#### 4.3.3 Biogas analysis

The biogas generated was quantified with gas flow meters (EKM Metering Inc.; Santa Cruz, California USA; model EKM-PGM.75). Biogas samples were taken at least weekly from each digester with a syringe, placed into pre-evacuated foil gas bags, and analyzed for CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S content using a gas chromatograph (Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Shanghai China; model 7890 A) with a thermal conductivity detector at 250°C with an HP-Plot Q capillary column (Agilent J&W; USA) and He as the carrier gas at 8.6 ml/min. The oven operated at  $60^{\circ}$ C for 2 minutes and subsequently ramped at  $30^{\circ}$ C/min to 240°C.

## 4.3.4 Feedstock characterization

The digester feedstocks were characterized prior to digestion (Table 4.1). Liquid digester samples were collected weekly and before and after each trial. Samples were analyzed for pH, soluble chemical oxygen demand (sCOD), total and volatile solids (TS, VS), total Kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN), total Kjeldahl phosphorus (TKP), and total sulfur. The pH was determined with an Accumet AB 15 pH meter. Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater (APHA, 2005) were used to determine TS (Method 2540B) and VS (Method 2540E). The reactor COD digestion method was adapted by HACH Method 8000 for sCOD with 1.5  $\mu$ m filtrate used for the analysis. A Lachat (QuickChem 8500 Series 2 FIA Automated Ion Analyzer) was used to determine TKN and TKP after Kjeldhal digestion with concentrated H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and CuSO<sub>4</sub>\*5H<sub>2</sub>O and filtration through 0.45  $\mu$ m membranes (QuikChem Method 13-107-06-2-D for TKN and 13-115-01-1-B for TKP). Composite samples from each digester type (manure-only or radish + manure) were submitted to Cumberland Valley Analytical Services (Hagerstown, MD) for total sulfur analysis and analyzed according to Standard Methods.

## 4.3.5 Statistical analysis

The experimental design for the two independent trials was a complete randomized design with six experimental units (digesters) and two treatment levels (presence or absence of radish) with three replicates each. A single factor ANOVA followed by Tukey-Kramer's post hoc test showed a significant difference between the CH<sub>4</sub> yields in the manure-only digesters (controls) in Trials 1 and 2. Therefore, statistical comparisons were only made within each trial. Significant differences within each trial were determined with t-tests for average CH<sub>4</sub> yields, H<sub>2</sub>S yields, sCOD, TKN, and TKP using *SAS 9.3* (SAS, Cary, NC) with an alpha of 0.05. Reported values are given as means with standard errors.

## 4.4 **Results and Discussion**

#### 4.4.1 CH<sub>4</sub> production

Co-digestion of forage radish cover crops in dairy manure complete mix batch digesters increased CH<sub>4</sub> production relative to that from digesters containing only dairy manure. The average CH<sub>4</sub> production value for RM1 (12.81 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate) was 68% greater than M1 (7.61 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate) (p-value = 0.003) and RM2 (8.38 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate) was 77% greater than M2 (4.74 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate) (p-value = 0.001) when normalized by kilograms of substrate added (Figure 4.1; Table 4.3). RM2 (13% radish) contained half the radish content of RM1 (27% radish), thus having a reduced VS load in comparison to RM1.

	M1	RM1	M2	RM2
L CH4/kg VS	190 (9)	210 (7)	150 (10)	208 (7)
L H <sub>2</sub> S/kg VS	1.71 (0.06)	2.21 (0.05)	0.91 (0.04)	1.68 (0.02)
L CH4/kg substrateww	7.61 (0.35)	12.8 (0.4)	4.74 (0.32)	8.38 (0.28)
L H <sub>2</sub> S/kg substrate <sub>ww</sub>	0.07 (0.002)	0.14 (0.003)	0.03 (0.001)	0.07 (0.0008)

Table 4.3 Cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S production represented by average (± standard error).



**Figure 4.1** Average (± standard error) CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S production for the manure-only (M1; M2) and radish + manure digesters (RM1: 27%; RM2: 13% radish, by ww). (A) L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate added, (B) L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS added, (C) percent CH<sub>4</sub>, and (D) percent H<sub>2</sub>S.

The radish + manure digesters initially experienced a lag in CH<sub>4</sub> production compared to the manure-only digesters. Normalized by VS addition, RM1 and RM2 required approximately 15 and 7 days, respectively, to equal the CH<sub>4</sub> production of M1 and M2, respectively (Figure 4.1). Additionally, in Days 1 - 3, RM1 and RM2 had < 50% CH<sub>4</sub> in the biogas. However, by the time the digesters reached peak CH<sub>4</sub> production, the CH<sub>4</sub> concentration of RM1 and RM2 had increased to 76% and 67%, respectively. Overall, the CH<sub>4</sub> concentration of the biogas for RM1 and RM2 was significantly higher than the respective manure-only digesters: M1 and M2 (p-value = 0.012 and 0.045, respectively).

Although the dairy manure obtained for Trial 2 was more dilute due to increased use of misting units in the dairy barn, we expected that the CH<sub>4</sub> production values for M1 and M2 would be similar when normalized by VS added considering that each contained the same quantity of inoculum and manure (Figure 4.1; Table 4.2). In contrast to our expectations, average CH<sub>4</sub> production values from M1 (190 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) and M2 (150 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) were significantly different (p-value = 0.002). For this reason, differences in CH<sub>4</sub> production between the two trials could not be attributed only to changes in radish content and statistical comparisons could only be conducted within each trial. Although we cannot explain the basis for the differences in CH<sub>4</sub> production between M1 and M2, the more dilute manure in Trial 2 could have resulted in substrate limitations, or other factors such as nutrient availability or toxicity could have affected the digestion process.

When normalizing CH<sub>4</sub> production by VS, the CH<sub>4</sub> production values for M1 and RM1 differed by only 11% and were not statistically different (190 and 210 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS, respectively; p-value = 0.21). In Trial 2, there was a statistically significant

difference between M2 and RM2, with a 39% increase in CH<sub>4</sub> production with radish (150 and 208 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS, respectively; p-value = 0.009) (Figure 4.1; Table 4.3). Although the effect of forage radish content (13% vs 27% radish) on CH<sub>4</sub> production was not statistically compared due to differences in manure between trials, the results show that even a small quantity of radish (13% radish) added to a dairy digester results in enhanced CH<sub>4</sub> production.

While co-digesting forage radish cover crops in dairy digesters increased CH<sub>4</sub> production, the CH<sub>4</sub> potential was lower than values from other energy crop digestion studies (i.e maize) but was similar to values from other sulfur-rich feedstocks. Amon et al. (2007) observed CH<sub>4</sub> production levels of 398 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS with maize, while Masse et al. (2010) observed 309 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS with switchgrass. Lower CH<sub>4</sub> production in our study (210 and 208 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS for RM1, RM2) is likely mostly due to co-digestion with manure, but could also be related to the higher sulfur content of the radish (0.6% DM) compared to the other energy crops utilized in these studies. The CH<sub>4</sub> potential of forage radish co-digestion was similar to other sulfur-rich biomass: seaweed (Ulva sp.) (148 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS), camelina (234 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS), and white mustard (223 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS) (Peu et al., 2011, 2012). Extrapolating from the pilot-scale studies, assuming no synergistic effects from co-digesting forage radish with dairy manure, digestion of 100% radish substrate would produce 515 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg VS. However, it is very likely that this value is overestimated, as our previous laboratory studies have shown that inoculum level (alkalinity) plays a major role in the digestion process as radish content increases (data unpublished).

## 4.4.2 Total sulfur content and H<sub>2</sub>S production

During the first three days of incubation, there were elevated H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations in the biogas produced in RM1 (1.2%), RM2 (0.8%), and M1 (0.9%), and a lower initial H<sub>2</sub>S concentration in M2 (0.4%) (Figure 4.1). H<sub>2</sub>S production rapidly declined during incubation as CH<sub>4</sub> production increased, likely due to the rapid utilization of the sulfur substrate over the first 14 days. By Days 9 and 7 respectively, RM1 and RM2 had lower H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations (0.28% and 0.23%) compared to M1 and M2 (0.43% and 0.32%), and remained below the manure-only digesters throughout the rest of the 33-day digestion period.

The sulfur content of the radish used in this study was 0.65 mg S/g radish (ww basis). Our previous laboratory experiments showed the forage radish had twice the total sulfur content of dairy manure. The range for liquid dairy manure has been cited as 0.10 - 0.48 mg S/g manure (ww basis) (Page et al., 2014; Bao et al., 2010). The results show that there was no difference initially in total sulfur concentration between the manure-only and radish + manure digesters (Figure 4.2). It is likely that the sulfur concentrations were similar due to the relatively small proportion of radish (13% and 6% of total volume for RM1 and RM2, respectively) added to the radish + manure digesters in comparison to the proportion of inoculum and manure.



**Figure 4.2** Characteristics of the manure-only and radish + manure digesters during 33 days of incubation. (A) mg S/g feedstock added, (B) pH, (C) g sCOD/L feedstock added, and (D) mg VS/g feedstock added.

Sulfur concentrations in the digesters followed a similar pattern during both trials. In the first trial, the total sulfur content of RM1 remained constant at ~ 0.45 mg S/g feedstock during the first six days of incubation, decreased by nearly 50% to 0.24 mg/g between Days 6 and 14, and then remained relatively constant for the remainder of the incubation period. For M1, RM2, and M2, sulfur concentrations decreased slightly during the first six days of digestion, decreased more steeply between Days 6 and 14, and remained stable thereafter. By Day 14, all digesters had similar total sulfur concentrations (0.18 - 0.22 mg S/g feedstock).

Although initial total sulfur concentrations were similar between M1 and RM1 and between M2 and RM2, the radish + manure digesters produced significantly more  $H_2S$  than the respective manure-only digesters (p-values = 0.009 and < 0.0001 for Trial 1 and 2, respectively). This suggests that the radish substrate was more readily degradable than the manure, allowing for the sulfur substrate in the radish + manure digesters to be rapidly converted to H<sub>2</sub>S. RM1 produced 2.21 L H<sub>2</sub>S/kg VS in comparison to M1 (1.71 L H<sub>2</sub>S/kg VS), while RM2 produced 1.68 L H<sub>2</sub>S/kg VS compared to M2 (0.91 L H<sub>2</sub>S/kg VS). With more  $H_2S$  being produced in the radish + manure digesters,  $CH_4$  production was suppressed initially. A similar result was shown during the digestion of apple waste. In those experiments, elevated H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations and slow increases in CH<sub>4</sub> production during the initial incubation illustrated that SRB activity was greater than methanogenic activity (Kafle and Kim, 2013). In that study, the authors predicted that acidification of the apple waste may have contributed to the low methanogenic activity during the initial incubation. However, in the present study, no significant acidification of the forage radish was observed as pH remained relatively constant over the entire incubation period

(Figure 4.2). Our results suggest that it was the sulfur content of the radish and its rapid degradation that lead to significantly higher  $H_2S$  production which suppressed CH<sub>4</sub> production initially rather than pH causing CH<sub>4</sub> suppression. Similarly Kafle et al. (2014) demonstrated that the AD of another Brassica crop, Chinese cabbage waste, produced biogas with less than 50% CH<sub>4</sub> content during the initial days (<21 days) of incubation, with H<sub>2</sub>S concentrations exceeding 5000 ppm. However after 21 days, the H<sub>2</sub>S concentration gradually declined and the CH<sub>4</sub> concentration increased to ~80%.

The initial lag in CH<sub>4</sub> production observed in the radish + manure digesters could be due to a longer period of acclimatization required for digesting the radish cover crop or methanogenic inhibition by SRB. Brassica cover crops (i.e. camelina, radish fodder, mustard) have high levels of sulfur-containing glucosinolates. 30.3% of the total sulfur content in radish cover crops are glucosinolates (Peu et al., 2013). Although glucosinolate content is highly dependent on species, variety, and cultivar, radish was found to contain the highest concentration of glucosinolates (64 - 332 mg/100g) relative to other crucifers such as cabbage, turnip, and kale (20 - 151 mg/100g) (Ciska et al., 2000). Future studies should include a full sulfur analyses in the liquid and gas phase to further elucidate the lag phase observed. Additionally, the lag phase seen during batch digestion may not be present during continuous operation.

Although  $H_2S$  can have a corrosive effect on digestion systems, this research suggests that at peak  $CH_4$  production co-digestion with the forage radish crop generates biogas that would not require any additional desulfurization beyond the standard practice of scrubbing the biogas from digestion of dairy manure prior to use in a CHP system. All digesters in the study had  $H_2S$  in the biogas above 0.05% (target concentration for CHP engines). On average, RM1 and RM2 had a H<sub>2</sub>S concentration of approximately 0.20% (2000 ppm) during peak CH<sub>4</sub> production, with the manure-only digesters being slightly higher at 0.40% (4000 ppm) and 0.34% (3400 ppm) for M1 and M2, respectively (Figure 4.1). During peak CH<sub>4</sub> production, the radish co-substrate lowered the H<sub>2</sub>S concentration of the biogas below the manure-only digesters by Days 9 and 7 for Trial 1 and Trial 2, respectively, although cumulatively the radish + manure digesters produced a larger quantity of H<sub>2</sub>S when normalized by VS addition.

Overall, CH<sub>4</sub> production was not severely suppressed by radish addition during this batch process and was able to reach high concentrations of CH<sub>4</sub> after the initial lag phase. Similarly, Peu et al. (2013) demonstrated that the digestion of Brassica crops was not severely inhibited by glucosinolate content, but H<sub>2</sub>S production in the biogas was not directly measured in their study. Peu et al. (2012) predicted that based on total sulfur content and biogas production that digestion of radish cover crops would produce biogas containing H<sub>2</sub>S concentration  $\leq 1.0\%$  (v:v). Although the radish species and variety were not specified and the whole plant was used as substrate, the predicted value is similar to our findings in which only the radish above-ground biomass was used for co-digestion in order to maintain the soil nutrient benefits of the cover crop and reduce harvesting labor.

# 4.4.3 pH, nutrients, and organic matter transformations

Use of forage radish as a co-digestion substrate at an ISR of 53:47 required no pH adjustments during the incubation period. All digesters remained within the optimal pH range (6.5 - 8.0) for mesophilic AD (Figure 4.2; Table 4.4). Although the forage radish had an initial pH of ~4.5, adequate buffering capacity was maintained in this study for a circum-neutral digestion environment.

	M1		RM1		M2		RM2	
	<u>Initial</u>	<u>Final</u>	<u>Initial</u>	<u>Final</u>	<u>Initial</u>	<u>Final</u>	<u>Initial</u>	<u>Final</u>
рН	7.5 (0.02)	7.6 (0.02)	7.3 (0.01)	7.7 (0.02)	7.6 (0.00)	7.6 (0.01)	7.4 (0.00)	7.7 (0.02)
sCOD(g/L)	8.83 (0.05)	3.69 (0.18)	10.6 (0.1)	3.46 (0.02)	5.34 (0.46)	2.76 (0.03)	7.87 (0.64)	2.64 (0.01)
<b>TS</b> $(mg/g)$	27.6 (0.1)	22.3 (0.4)	36.9 (0.2)	22.5 (0.1)	21.4 (0.1)	16.7 (1.5)	26.1 (0.2)	21.1 (1.5)
<b>VS</b> $(mg/g)$	18.7 (0.1)	13.4 (0.3)	26.5 (0.2)	12.3 (0.1)	14.5 (0.04)	9.7 (1.1)	18.1 (0.2)	12.2 (1.0)
Sulfur ( <i>mg/g</i> )	0.41	0.18	0.43	0.21	0.44	0.22	0.41	0.19

 $\label{eq:table 4.4 Characteristics of the manure-only and radish + manure mixtures before and after digestion.$ 

The addition of forage radish as a co-substrate also did not diminish the fertilizer value of the digester effluents (Table 4.5). TKN values for the manure-only and radish + manure digester effluents were not statistically different at  $1695 \pm 100$  and  $1764 \pm 118$  mg/L respectively, while TKP values were also not statistically different at  $269 \pm 16$  and  $278 \pm 20$  mg/L, respectively. This resulted in the digester effluents having an average N:P ratio of 6.3:1, which is close to the N:P ratio required by corn grain (6:1) (Paschold et al., 2008). The effluent of both digestion systems with and without radish would be an advantageous liquid fertilizer for corn-silage based dairy farmers.

The sCOD values increased in RM1 and RM2 during the first two days of digestion, likely due to the initial hydrolysis of the forage radish into simple soluble compounds (Figure 4.2). After the initial spike, sCOD for RM1 decreased by 10.2 g/L during the 33-day incubation period, with 90% of the reduction occurring during the first 14 days. In RM2, sCOD values were reduced by 5.9 g/L. There was less sCOD total destruction in the M1 and M2 digesters (5.1 and 2.6 g/L, respectively) due to the lower initial values. However by the end of the incubation period, the sCOD concentrations were similar between RM1 and M1, as well as between RM2 and M2, illustrating the ability of the radish + manure digesters to utilize the additional sCOD input from the radish substrate. VS reductions were similar, with 14.2 and 5.9 mg of VS removed per gram of feedstock addition for RM1 and RM2, respectively, and 5.2 and 4.8 mg/g for M1 and M2, respectively (Figure 4.2).

	<b>M1</b>	<b>RM1</b>	M2	RM2
TKN (mg/L)	1750 (220)	1800 (260)	1640 (40)	1720 (40)
TKP (mg/L)	278 (32)	274 (44)	259 (10)	283 (9)
N:P	6.3:1	6.6:1	6.3:1	6.1:1

**Table 4.5** Nitrogen and phosphorus characteristics of the digester effluents after 33 days of incubation.

# 4.4.4 Farm-scale analysis

Harvesting the above-ground biomass of forage radish using a rotary mower and forage chopper, yielded 7,340  $\pm$  1,050 kg/acre (fresh weight) of radish shoots and aboveground roots. Based on the pilot-scale CH<sub>4</sub> production results for RM2 (13% radish and 87% liquid dairy manure (ww basis)) and an ISR of 53% inoculum, a 200-dairy cow farm would require a 32 m<sup>3</sup> batch digestion system, assuming a 15% biogas headspace (Table 4.6). Operating the batch digester with a 30-day retention time would require the following substrates: 1630 kg (ww) of radish (corresponding to the yield from 1/4 acre) and 10,890 kg (ww) of manure, which is equivalent to the daily manure production from 200 dairy cows, assuming a daily manure production rate of 120 lbs/dairy cow (ASAE, 2003). The calculated CH<sub>4</sub> production from this batch system would be 105 m<sup>3</sup>/month, which corresponds to a monthly energy yield of 3.65\*10<sup>6</sup> BTU or 1070 kWh, and is 77% greater than digesting 100% dairy manure.

Due to the low pH of forage radish (4.5) and volatile fatty acid production during digestion, adequate buffering capacity is required for optimal CH<sub>4</sub> production when digesting radish. A high volume of inoculum and/or manure would likely be required, especially if operating in batch mode. Other studies have shown that high inoculum/manure loads enhanced CH<sub>4</sub> production when digesting Brassica crops. Peu et al. (2013) utilized pig slurry for radish fodder (whole plant) co-digestion (75:25, ww),

whereas Carvalho et al. (2011) used previously digested wastewater treatment plant sludge as inoculum for oilseed radish (whole plant silage) digestion (91:9, ww), with both being higher than the ISR used in this study (53:47).

Extrapolating from the batch digestion studies to a continuously operated digestion system would require a 460 m<sup>3</sup> digester for a 30-day retention time with manure loaded from 200 dairy cows and 1630 kg of radish daily, corresponding to seven acres of harvested radish per month. This assumes a one-time loading of 53% inoculum at start-up (Table 4.6). The CH<sub>4</sub> production from this system was calculated to be 3150 m<sup>3</sup>/month, assuming the CH<sub>4</sub> production rate of the batch system. The CH<sub>4</sub> production value assumes that the pH would remain the same in a continuous system when inoculum was only added at start-up. However, this may not occur. If fluctuations in pH occurred, the radish content could be lowered for continuous operation.

For field-scale operation, the entire daily manure load of the farm could be treated and the amount of radish harvested and added to the digester would be based on the daily manure production rate. For a new digester operation, the additional digester capacity required for radish co-digestion could be taken into account at the design phase. For an existing system, the operator has several options including decreasing in-vessel gas storage space or retention time, or storing the radish and adding a smaller percentage of radish daily in order to accommodate the existing digester size.

	Batch	Continuous
	Digester	Digester
Retention time (days)	30	30
Feedstocks		
Forage radish <sup>a</sup> (kg <sub>ww</sub> )	1,630	48,800
Dairy manure <sup>b</sup> (kg <sub>ww</sub> )	10,890	326,590
Inoculum (kg <sub>ww</sub> )	14,110	14,110
Total (kg <sub>ww</sub> )	26,620	389,500
Digester size <sup>c</sup> (m <sup>3</sup> )	32	460
CH <sub>4</sub> production <sup>d</sup> (m <sup>3</sup> )	105	3,150
Energy yield (BTU)	3.65E+06	1.09E+08
Energy yield (kJ)	3.85E+06	1.15E+08
Energy yield (kWh)	1,070	32,050
Cover crop cost-share <sup>e</sup> (US\$/acre)	80	80
Radish Substrate Value (US\$)	20	560
Natural gas <sup>f</sup> (US\$/m <sup>3</sup> )	0.43	0.43
Electricity <sup>g</sup> (US\$/kWh)	0.10	0.10
Co-digestion Revenue		
Gas (US\$)	45	1,350
Electricity (US\$)	105	3,125
Total Revenue		
Gas (US\$)	65	1,910
Electricity (US\$)	125	3,685

**Table 4.6** Energy and revenue per month for a 200-dairy cow farm operating a complete mix digestion system.

<sup>a</sup> Based on 7,340 kg of above-ground radish biomass/acre.

<sup>b</sup> Assumes a daily manure production rate of 120 lbs/dairy cow.

<sup>c</sup> Assumes a 15% volumetric headspace.

<sup>d</sup> Based on 8.38 L CH<sub>4</sub>/kg substrate.

<sup>e</sup> Assumes a base payment, plus add-on incentives: cover crop planted by October 1 on a farm located in a targeted watershed on fields that previously grew corn and were fertilized in Spring with manure.

<sup>f</sup> Based on the average price of natural gas (2013 US\$).

<sup>g</sup> Based on average price of electricity (2013 US\$).

On a practical standpoint, our experience showed that utilizing a reduced radish loading resulted in more favorable digester operation and maintenance conditions. Reducing the radish content minimized clogging in the digester pumping system and allowed for the mechanical mixers to adequately agitate substrates without increased strain, thus reducing stratification of substrates in the digester. The smaller radish addition could also be more advantageous to the dairy farmer since less land would need to be harvested for the digestion co-substrate, resulting in reduced fuel costs associated with harvesting and transportation and less labor and energy would be required for harvesting and mechanically reducing the particle size of the radish.

A possible scenario for a corn-silage based dairy farmer utilizing a continuous complete mix digester would consist of the following. The forage radish cover crop would be planted in August immediately after corn harvest. Starting November, the forage radish cover crop would be harvested for co-digestion substrate weekly. Due to the consistency of the above-ground radish biomass after mowing and forage chopping, it is more ideal to harvest the radish in small batches. The colder temperatures should allow for the harvested radish to be stored outdoors. The ambient temperature will dictate if weekly radish harvesting can continue through December and how many additional acres could be harvested for continual loading in December and January. Typically in December or January, the forage radish cover crop will winter-kill after several consecutive nights with temperatures below - 6°C. The forage radish cover crop that will be utilized as co-substrate should be harvested prior to any predicted hard frost.

Through cost-share programs, farmers can receive grants for planting cover crops. Depending upon the farming practice, the average base payment is \$45/acre. Using highly valued planting practices, such as planting in fields that previously grew corn or were fertilized with manure in the springtime can increase the payment to \$80/acre (MDA, 2014). Utilizing the above-ground radish biomass as co-substrate could also increase farm revenue through biogas and electrical generation. Based on CH<sub>4</sub> production values from the batch and continuous digestion systems on a 200-dairy cow farm and the 2013 average price of natural gas (0.43 US\$/m<sup>3</sup>) and electricity (0.10 US\$/kWh) (EIA, 2014), co-digesting with radish could provide additional revenue up to \$45 and \$1350/month, respectively, for natural gas and \$105 and \$3125/month, respectively, for electricity.

## 4.5 Conclusions

Increased renewable energy production can be realized through co-digestion with forage radish cover crops in dairy manure digesters. Although cumulative H<sub>2</sub>S production in the radish + manure digesters was significantly higher than the respective manure-only digester, H<sub>2</sub>S production in the radish + manure digesters rapidly declined, resulting in higher levels of CH<sub>4</sub> ( $\geq$  67%) and lower levels of H<sub>2</sub>S (0.20%) in the biogas compared to the manure-only digesters during peak biogas production. For a 200-dairy cow farm, a continuous complete mix digester (30-day retention time) would require seven acres of radish and has the potential to produce 3150 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>/month through co-digestion.

# 4.6 Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the Northeast Sun Grant Initiative (NE10-040). Our sincere appreciation is extended to the University of Maryland's (UMD) Waste to Energy Laboratory, especially Veronika Zhiteneva, Holly Bowen, Brent Murrell, Isabel Enerson, Freddy Witarsa, James Thomas, Angela Perantoni, Stanley Schlosnagle, and the ENST Capstone students. We would like to thank Gary Seibel and the UMD Environmental Science and Technology Project Development Center for digester fabrication assistance. Special thanks are also extended to the USDA personnel, especially Shannon Ingram, John Meisinger, and the BARC dairy farm crew.

Appendix E contains supplementary tables for Chapter 4 detailing cumulative biogas, CH<sub>4</sub>, and H<sub>2</sub>S production values for the triplicate complete mix batch digesters.

# Chapter 5: Forage Radish Cover Crops: Cultivation, Harvest, and Energy Yield

## 5.1 Cultivation

Forage radish is listed among the cover crops that the Maryland Agricultural Water Quality Cost-Share (MACS) Program provides farmers incentive payments for if planted by mid-September (Figure 5.1). According to Maryland's 2014-2015 cover crop program, the traditional cover crop (i.e. crop not harvested; crop grazed or chopped for on-farm livestock feed) base payment for planting radish is \$45/acre. Add-on incentives are also available up to \$90/acre for using highly valued farming practices. Farmers can also participate in the harvested cover crop program, which receives \$25/acre (MDA, 2015a; 2015b).

The planting period in Maryland for forage radish is August 15-Septemeber 15. A minimum of five acres must be planted to participate in the cost-share. The seeding rate for forage radish required by MACS is 10 lbs/acre, although the rate should be increased by 25% for aerial application (MDA, 2015a; 2015b). However, if precisely planted or drilled, 6 to 10 lbs/acre is generally recommended (Gruver et al., 2014).

Although vegetable radish seeds can be cost-prohibitively expensive, there are several other varieties (i.e. GroundHog Radish; NitroRadish; Tillage Radish) of radish commonly marketed for cover cropping (Gruver et al., 2014). Survey of current seed prices in 50 lb bag lots revealed that radish seeds ranged from \$2.40 to \$3.45 per pound (Forage Seeds, 2015; Best Forage, 2015; Hancock Seed, 2015). If five acres of land were sown at a seeding rate of 10 lbs/acre and \$3/lb for seeds, 50 lbs of seeds would be required costing \$150 dollars (\$30/acre) in total.

# 5.2 Harvesting

Forage radish (*Raphanus sativus* var. *longipinnatus*) cover crops were sown in August in Beltsville, MD after corn-silage harvesting. The radish was grown on residual nutrients, with no additional fertilizer or manure applied other than that which was used for the preceding corn silage crop. In early December, before winter-kill, radish biomass yields were determined. To quantify the whole radish biomass yield, shovels were used to extract the shoots and below-ground fleshy roots from  $1m^2$  quadrants in the field (Figure 5.2). Harvesting the whole radish resulted in a fresh weight yield of 24,807 ± 1,274 kg/acre (Table 5.1). A rotary mower was used to separate the above-ground radish biomass (shoots plus a small portion of the root that extended above the soil surface) from the below ground root (Figures 5.3 & 5.4). Mowing the radish resulted in an above-ground biomass yield of 11,139 ± 1,144 kg/acre. This harvesting method left the below ground root intact in the soil. It is estimated that at least 55% of the whole plant (below-ground root) remained in the field for decomposition.

**Table 5.1** Biomass yields (± standard error) of forage radish cover crops.

	Fresh Biomass yield, kg/acre
Whole radish	24,807 (1,274)
Mowed radish (above-ground crop)	11,139 (1,144)
Mowed and chopped radish (above-ground crop)	7,344 (525)

In order to harvest the radish for use as an anaerobic digestion substrate, the radish was mowed and windrowed, followed by harvesting with a forage chopper. The chopped material was blown into an adjacent wagon for collection and weighed (Figures 5.5 & 5.6). This resulted in a biomass wet weight yield of 7,344  $\pm$  525 kg/acre. Observation of the field after harvesting revealed that some of the above-ground biomass

material was not collected as the forage chopper passed over the mowed windrow. Based on 'mowed' and 'mowed and chopped' biomass yields, it is estimated that over 30% of the above-ground material was left on the field as ground cover. Considering that only the above-ground radish biomass was forage chopped and utilized on-farm as anaerobic digestion substrate, it is not entirely clear whether MACS would classify the radish as a traditional or harvested cover crop. However, harvesting a portion of the forage radish cover crop would actually promote the environmental goals of the MACS program by removing nitrogen and phosphorus from the field.

Logistics for harvesting the forage radish could be improved to allow for more of the above-ground biomass to be collected per square meter as well as controlling the significant volume of liquid that is released during harvesting. High performance farming machinery, such as a sealed self-loading/unloading forage wagon, may allow for a cleaner gathering of the crop from the field and conservation of the liquid portion which may have a high energy content. Utilizing this type of wagon could also result in faster radish harvesting and reducing the amount of farm labor and machinery required.

For anaerobic digestion, fresh radish material was only utilized as substrate and therefore is only available until winter-kill (up to 4 months October-January). To increase availability of the radish year-round, storage options such as ensiling could be explored. However, the moisture content of the radish crop is high (90%), and thus might require a drier co-silage substrate to produce optimal silage. Additionally, the CH<sub>4</sub> yield of the silage should be determined before utilizing the material as a feedstock.

# 5.3 Processing

To determine the most suitable procedure for loading the radish into the complete mix digesters, several digester loading trials were conducted. Initially, the forage chopped radish was homogenized with dairy manure and loaded into the digester using a centrifugal pump. However due to the long fibrous radish strands ( up to 10 cm), residual corn stalks, and other field debris, the pump's impeller and volute would clog resulting in the pump shutting off. To avoid damaging the pump and minimizing clogging, a Hobart industrial vertical cutter was used to further reduce the particle size of the forage chopped radish to less than 3 cm (Figure 5.7).

Logistics for processing the radish for anaerobic digestion could also be improved. To minimize energy consumption and labor, it would be ideal to have a harvesting method in the field that could simultaneously reduce the particle size of the radish during forage chopping into a form that was more suitable for conveyance into the digester. For farm-scale operation, it is recommended for all plumbing to be greater than 2 inches and to utilize a grinder pump to minimize clogging. Additionally, it is not recommended to utilize radish as a co-digestion substrate in dairy manure-based gravity fed plug flow digesters due to the radish separating from the manure during conveyance and clogging the plumbing.

## 5.4 Energy Yield

Utilizing forage radish cover crops as an anaerobic digestion substrate produced energy without land use competition. Biochemical methane potential (BMP) experiments conducted in the laboratory revealed that digestion of the above-ground radish biomass at an inoculum to substrate ratio of 91:9 (wet weight) had a specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield of 337  $m^3/t$  VS. Considering the biomass yield of 20 t/ha (7,344 kg/acre) and the specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield, the calculated CH<sub>4</sub> yield of the above-ground radish biomass was 532 m<sup>3</sup>/ha. Since the specific CH<sub>4</sub> yield for radish was determined in small BMP vessels (300 mL), a more accurate reflection of CH<sub>4</sub> potential should be determined using larger-scale digesters for real-world radish only applications.

In comparison to other energy crops, the calculated CH<sub>4</sub> yield per hectare for radish was low (Table 5.2). It should be noted that common energy crops such as maize and wheat have over 4 times more VS content than forage radish, while red clover and oilseed rape have 2 to 3 times higher VS, respectively (Cropgen, 2008). Additionally, the Brassica crops, oilseed rape and forage radish had lower  $CH_4$  yields per hectare. With maize having higher biomass yields and VS content, it was expected for the CH<sub>4</sub> yields per hectare to be higher than forage radish as shown. Additionally, although the biomass yields for oilseed rape were lower in comparison to radish, with 3 times more VS content in the oilseed rape, it is reasonable for the oilseed rape to also have higher CH<sub>4</sub> production as shown. Although, the calculated CH<sub>4</sub> yield per hectare was low for forage radish, its use as an anaerobic digestion substrate is still promising considering its readily available, does not compete with food production, provides multiple soil and environmental benefits, receives crop-share payments, and optimizes CH<sub>4</sub> production of a manure digester. To determine the sustainability of digesting forage radish and to access the energy return on energy invested, a cost benefit and energy analysis should be conducted.

		Specific	Calculated
	Biomass	methane yield,	methane yield,
	yield, t/ha	m <sup>3</sup> /t VS	m³/ha
Maize (whole crop)*	9 - 30	397 - 618	3,573 - 18,540
Wheat (grain) <sup>*</sup>	3.6 - 11.75	384 - 426	1,382 - 5,005
Red clover <sup>*</sup>	5 - 19	300 - 350	1,500 - 6,650
Oilseed rape <sup>*</sup>	2.5 -7.8	240 - 340	600 - 2,652
Radish (above-ground crop)	20	337	532

Table 5.2 Biomass and energy yields of crops.

\*Values obtained from Braun et al., 2009



Figure 5.1 A stand of forage radish cover crops in Beltsville, MD.



**Figure 5.2** Extracting radish (whole crop) from  $1m^2$  quadrants to determine biomass yield.



Figure 5.3 The above-ground radish biomass.



Figure 5.4 A rotary mower during radish harvesting.



Figure 5.5 A forage chopper and adjacent collection wagon during radish harvesting.


Figure 5.6 Forage chopped radish in collection wagon.



Figure 5.7 Foraged chopped radish in Hobart industrial vertical cutter.

# **Chapter 6: Conclusions**

#### **6.1 Results Summary**

Forage radish cover crops are a suitable co-substrate for increasing methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) production of a dairy manure-based digester. The cover crop had 1.5 fold higher CH<sub>4</sub> potential than dairy manure on a volatile solids basis. A farmer could harvest the above-ground biomass for anaerobic digestion co-substrate from October until December (winter-kill), as harvest date of the radish cover crop did not influence CH<sub>4</sub> production. Increasing the radish content of the co-digestion mixture and the inoculum to substrate ratio, significantly increased CH<sub>4</sub> production. Due to the low pH and rapid biodegradability of radish, adequate buffering capacity with the use of inoculum and/or dairy manure was required to prevent volatile fatty acid accumulation, which severely suppressed CH<sub>4</sub> production.

Initial H<sub>2</sub>S production increased as the radish content of the co-digestion mixture increased, but the sulfur-containing compounds were rapidly utilized. Overall, the sulfur content of the radish did not suppress CH<sub>4</sub> production after an initial lag phase. Pilot-scale experiments revealed that co-digesting with radish increased CH<sub>4</sub> production by 39% relative to manure-only digestion. Additionally, the results suggest that at peak CH<sub>4</sub> production co-digestion with the forage radish crop generates biogas that would not require any additional desulfurization beyond the standard practice of scrubbing the biogas from digestion of dairy manure prior to use in a combined heat and power system. Extrapolated to a farm-scale (200 cows) continuous mixed digester, co-digesting with a 13% radish mixture could generate 3150 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>/month, providing a farmer additional revenue up to \$3125/month in electricity sales.

Through cost-share programs, farmers can receive incentive payments for planting forage radish cover crops. Utilizing the radish as anaerobic digestion substrate produced energy without land use competition, thus expanding the use of the cover crop beyond improving topsoil fertility and alleviating soil compaction. Harvesting of the radish with a rotary mower and forage chopper yielded 20 t/ha of above-ground biomass, which has a calculated energy yield of 532 m<sup>3</sup> CH<sub>4</sub>/ha.

#### **6.2 Broader Impacts**

It is expected that this co-digestion research will provide dairy farmers the tools needed to enhance CH<sub>4</sub> production in digesters during the fall and winter months by utilizing optimal co-digestion and inoculum to substrate ratios. Utilizing forage radish cover crops will provide multiple benefits to the farmer through soil nutrient management, water quality improvement, as well as the enhanced production of renewable energy. Through anaerobic digestion, not only is it expected to reduce CH<sub>4</sub> emissions associated with the handling of dairy manures, but it is also hopeful to provide farmers with a potential source of revenue (biogas), odor control, and the creation of an optimized fertilizer.

The funding provided by the Northeast Sun Grant and the University of Maryland has allowed many opportunities to educate diverse audiences locally, nationally, and internationally about advances in anaerobic digestion. This research has been presented to industry and the scientific community in poster and oral presentations at venues such as the American Ecological Engineering Society Conference, the American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineering Annual International Meeting, and the Science for Biomass Feedstock Production and Utilization National Conference. Workshop presentations include the Clark School Engineering Sustainability Workshop, Bioscience Research and Technology Review Days, and the Northeast Sun Grant Anaerobic Digestion Workshops. A peer-reviewed journal article on this research has also been published in *Bioresource Technology's* Special Issue on Thermo-chemical Conversion of Biomass.

#### 6.3 Future Work

Before farm-scale application, it is recommended to determine how inclusion of radish cover crops influence CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S production utilizing a pilot-scale continuous digestion system. It should be determined whether optimized CH<sub>4</sub> production is maintained when the inoculum is added only during digester start-up and alkalinity monitoring should be simultaneously conducted. A cost benefit and energy analyses would also determine the sustainability of utilizing this co-digestion practice on farm. Additionally, it is suggested to improve radish harvesting and processing logistics which are discussed further in Chapter 5.

# Appendices

# Appendix A: Pilot-Scale Complete Mix Anaerobic Digester Design

Six pilot-scale complete mix anaerobic digesters were designed and constructed at the USDA's Beltsville Agricultural Research Center (BARC). The digesters were constructed from 850 L conical high-density polyethylene tanks (Ace Roto-Mold; Hospers, Iowa USA). Additional valves, ports, and pipes were primarily constructed from EPDM rubber, PVC piping, and stainless steel. The digesters were equipped with silicone adhesive rubber heating blankets to maintain mesophilic (35°C) digestion conditions. To encapsulate heat surrounding the digester, foil reflective frames were installed. The reflective frames were constructed from PVC, plastic fencing, and industrial strength aluminum foil. The temperature control panel was wired to continuously monitor and simultaneously control the digester's internal and external temperatures. Protective casings (temperature sensing wells) were also fabricated to house the internal temperature probes in order to prevent direct contact with liquid contents. Top-mounted digester stirrers were constructed using 1/15 hp Dayton right angle gear motors and custom-made steel stir rods (25 cm diameter beveled mixing blades). The digester stirrers were simultaneously controlled by an electronic timer. Each digester was leak tested prior to operation. Detected leaks were sealed with an additional layer of 100% silicon. The digester lids were air-tight when silicone sealed. However, it was noted that the digesters could not tolerate anything beyond slight pressurization, therefore biogas was continuously collected in biogas bags to avoid breaking the digester lid seals. The biogas collection system was designed using ~1000 L plastic bags (~7 mil thickness), which

were equipped with custom-made gas collection ports. The biogas bags were heat sealed and tested for leakage with pressure gauges and a combustible gas leak detector. To prevent excess water vapor from entering the biogas bags, moisture traps and desiccant traps were designed and installed on each digester.



Figure A.1 Diagram of 850 L complete mix anaerobic digester.



Figure A.2 View of complete mix digesters under construction at USDA BARC.



Figure A.3 View of complete mix digester equipped with (A) silicone adhesive rubber heating blankets and (B) a foil reflective frame to encapsulate heat.



Figure A.4 View of temperature control panel.



Figure A.5 View of internal temperature probe enclosed in protective sensing well.



**Figure A.6** View of top-mounted digester stirrers constructed using 1/15 hp Dayton right angle gear motors.



Figure A.7 View of beveled blade (25 cm diameter) steel stir rods.



Figure A.8 View of biogas bags equipped with gas collection ports.



Figure A.9 View of (A) moisture trap and (B) desiccant trap.



Figure A.10 Birdseye view of the complete mix digestion system.



Figure A.11 View of pilot-scale operational complete mix anaerobic digester.



Figure A.12 View of biogas bags in use.

# **Appendix B: Standard Operating Procedures for Complete Mix Digesters**

## **B1.** Biogas sampling

<u>Materials</u>

- Evacuated Tedlar gas bags (0.5 L)
- Graduated syringe with needle
- Small tube of silicone



Figure B.1 View of gas port with septum inserted.

- 1. Evacuate Tedlar bags by vacuum pump.
- 2. Flush the graduated syringe several times with ambient air.
- 3. Biogas samples are obtained from the gas port.
- Gently insert syringe needle into the gas port septum and withdraw 100 mL of biogas

- 5. Immediately expel biogas into a pre-evacuated Tedlar bag.
- 6. Apply a small amount of silicone to punctured septum.
- 7. Ensure that the syringe is flushed with ambient air in between sampling digesters.
- The biogas samples are taken to the University of Maryland Water Quality Laboratory for analysis utilizing the gas chromatograph for CH<sub>4</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>S content.

## **B2.** Water sampling

#### <u>Materials</u>

- Buckets
- Sample bottles
- Ice packs
- Cooler

- 1. Water samples are collected from the water sampling port.
- 2. Ensure that the stir rod is agitating throughout the sampling event.
- Carefully open water sampling port and release about 100 mL of liquid and close valve. Discard liquid. Note that the liquid flow rate will be rapid.
- 4. Carefully open water sampling port valve again and discharge liquid into a clean bucket. Close valve. Divide the contents of the bucket into duplicate sample bottles.
- Transport sample bottles on ice to the University of Maryland Water Quality Laboratory for analysis.

## **B3.** Biogas metering

#### <u>Materials</u>

- Flathead screwdriver
- Foam insulation boards
- Small vacuum pumps rated at 2.5 m<sup>3</sup>/h (*Caution: Be gentle. Handle with care! Pumps are made with glass canisters.*)
- Gas meters
- Logbook

- 1. In warehouse breezeway, lay down 2 foam insulation boards per biogas bag.
- 2. Place small vacuum pump outdoors.
- 3. Plug in the small vacuum pump to an extension cord.
- 4. Connect the vacuum pump outflow tubing to the gas meter inflow. Ensure that the gas meter is always in an upright position.
- 5. Connect the gas meter output to tubing and place the end of the tubing outdoors as far away from the warehouse as possible.
- 6. Close gas ports on digester and biogas bag.
- 7. Carefully remove biogas tubing from bag gas port by using a flathead screwdriver to loosen hose clamp. Use a rotating motion to gently remove the tubing while one hand is gripping the ball valve. Immediately insert a septum into the biogas tubing end to avoid gas loss.
- Holding the top two corners of the biogas bag, carefully remove bag from the hooks and sling.

- 9. Carefully carry biogas bag out to warehouse breezeway and gently place on the foam insulation boards. The biogas bag gas port should always face upward.
- 10. Connect the vacuum pump inflow tubing to the biogas bag. Record the date, time, bag number, meter and pump number, and starting reading on the gas meter in the logbook.
- 11. Open the gas port on the biogas bag.
- 12. Immediately turn on the vacuum pump.
- 13. Monitor the biogas bag while draining, ensuring to minimize creases and stopping just before a vacuumed suction occurs in the biogas bag.
- 14. Turn off the vacuum pump.
- 15. Close the biogas bag gas port.
- 16. Record ending number on the gas meter in the logbook.
- 17. Return drained biogas bag to frame and re-attach with hooks. Secure sling to ensure the gas port remains parallel to the floor.
- 18. Reconnect biogas tubing to biogas bag. Secure tubing with a hose clamp with screwdriver. Ensure that the clamp is not too tight on tubing to avoid damaging tubing.
- 19. Open the gas ports on the biogas bag and digester.
- 20. Repeat until all bags are drained.
- 21. After all bags are drained, turn small vacuum pumps on and flush ambient air through, while it is still connected to the gas meter for 3 minutes.
- 22. Disconnect and store biogas metering set-up.



Figure B.2 View of biogas metering set-up.

# **B4.** Maintenance

#### Daily maintenance for complete mix digestion system

- 1. Open doors for venting of warehouse upon arrival.
- Inspect each digester to ensure stir rod is attached to motor (as marked by a red line on top and bottom of connecting barrel).
- 3. Ensure that digester motors are running smoothly.
- 4. Using the timer, turn off the stir rods. Tighten all screws, reapply vacuum grease to grommet surrounding stir rod, and turn stir rods back on.
- 5. Inspect temperature control panel to ensure unit is properly functioning. The interior temperature should range between  $33 35^{\circ}$ C. If interior temperature

reaches 35°C or exterior temperature reaches 45°C, the temperature controllers will shut off until digester system cools.

- 6. Inspect each biogas bag to ensure that they are properly secured to frame.
- 7. Ensure all digester gas ports and biogas bags collection ports are open.
- Check biogas tubing for moisture build-up. Empty water from moisture traps if necessary.
- 9. Check desiccant trap for moisture control and replace desiccant if necessary.
- 10. Ensure no visible water leaks or biogas leaks using combustible gas leak detector. Thoroughly inspect digester lid, motor mount with rod, and gas port as well as all seams and biogas collection port on the biogas bags. Immediately address any detected leak.
- 11. Check biogas sampling septum for leaks and replace septum if necessary.

#### **B5.** Desiccant traps

#### <u>Materials</u>

- Flat head screwdriver
- Septums
- Desiccant

- 1. Disconnect desiccant trap from digester with flat head screwdriver. Ensure to stopper digester biogas tubing with septums to avoid loss of gas.
- 2. On desiccant trap, remove 1- Fernco (end connected directly to plastic clear tube).
- 3. Pour exhausted desiccant from trap into plastic bag.

- 4. Immediately replace with dry desiccant. Ensure to tightly pack the desiccant into the trap. Resemble desiccant trap and connect to digester.
- 5. Repeat to change out all desiccant traps as necessary.
- At the University of Maryland Water Quality Laboratory, place exhausted desiccant (~1 inch thick layer) into a metal tray.
- 7. Allow to dry at 120 °C for 8 hours in drying oven.
- 8. Stir desiccant occasionally and monitor to avoid burning desiccant.
- 9. When dry, immediately transfer desiccant and store in air-tight container.

### **B6.** Digester loading procedure

#### <u>Materials</u>

- Forklift
- Hobart industrial vertical cutter
- Scales (truck scale and industrial scale)
- 300-gallon tanks on heavy duty forklift pallets
- 50-gallon drums
- Inoculum
- Solids-separated liquid dairy manure
- Forage chopped radish
- 1.5 hp centrifugal pump
- Drum pump
- 2" connecting hose with banjo fitting
- 1.5" connecting hose with female union

#### Radish preparation

Evenly place 5-gallons of thawed forage chopped radish into the Hobart industrial vertical cutter. Blend for 1 min on high speed and check consistency to ensure particle size is less than 3 cm. It is vital to retighten the Hobart cutter blades between each load of radish as the blades have a tendency to loosen. Use specialized wrench and key.

- Transfer inoculum from BARC's complete mix digester (540 m<sup>3</sup>) into a 300-gallon tank. Ensure drain port is closed on tank. Note that transferring the inoculum via a digester sampling port is a slow process.
- 2. After using the Hobart vertical cutter, weigh radish on industrial scale located in warehouse (163F).
- 3. Obtain solids-separated dairy manure in 50-gallon drums.
- Place an empty 300-gallon tank on the truck scale outside of 163 F to obtain weight. Record weight. Ensure drain port is closed on tank.
- Using a forklift, transfer inoculum tank and drums of manure to the truck scale area.
  Additionally, transport the pre-weighed radish to the truck scale area.
- 6. Using a drum pump, transfer the desired amount of inoculum into the empty tank on the truck scale. Record weight.
- Using a drum pump, transfer the desired amount of manure into the tank on the truck scale. Record weight.
- Transfer the desired amount of pre-weighed radish into the tank on the truck scale.
  Record weight.

- 9. Forklift the tank on the truck scale into the warehouse. Ensure to place the tank so that it is accessible with the length of hosing available to load each digester.
- 10. Thoroughly homogenize mixture in tank with a 2x4 piece of lumber.
- 11. Connect a 2" hose to the tank drain port and the 1.5 hp centrifugal pump input.
- 12. Connect a 1.5" hose to the pilot-scale digester drain port (located on bottom of digester) and the 1.5 hp centrifugal pump output.
- 13. While transferring feedstocks from tank to digester, ensure to continuously stir mixture.
- 14. Open the ball valve on the digester drain. Check to make sure that the water sampling port is closed on the digester. Remove the digester septum, open the gas port, and take the biogas tubing off the gas port.
- 15. Open the ball valve on the tank drain.
- 16. Check for any leaks in the set-up.
- 17. Turn the centrifugal pump on.
- Pump feedstock into the digester while monitoring volume level on digester.
  Remember to keep homogenizing mixture in tank.
- 19. Ensure that the digester liquid level is always above the heating blankets to prevent scorching the digester walls.
- 20. Turn off the pump and quickly close the ball valves on the digester and the tank.
- 21. Close the digester gas port. Attach biogas tubing with a hose clamp to the gas port. Insert septum and secure with a hose clamp.
- 22. Attach the other end of the biogas tubing to an empty biogas bag.

- 23. Record tank number, biogas bag number, treatment (including weights of feedstocks added), date, and time in the logbook.
- 24. Disconnect pump carefully as liquid will still be in the hosing. Allow hoses to completely drain. Between treatments, flush pump and hoses with water to cleanse.
- 25. Repeat this process 5 times, selecting the digesters for manure-only vs. radish + manure treatments in a random order.
- 26. Once all digesters have been loaded, turn on temperature control panels and stir rods. Open digester gas ports and biogas bag ports.
- 27. Clean out the pump and hosing with water and wash down area.



Figure B.3 View of digester loading set-up.

# **B7.** Digester unloading procedure

#### <u>Materials</u>

- Flathead screwdriver
- 300-gallon tanks on heavy duty forklift pallets
- 1.5" connecting hose with female union
- 1.5 hp centrifugal pump

- Connect a 1.5" hose to the pilot-scale digester drain port and direct outtake into a 300-gallon empty tank.
- 2. Remove septum and biogas tubing from digester gas sampling port with a flathead screwdriver. Keep gas port open.
- 3. Slowly open digester drain.
- 4. Observe carefully to prevent digester lid from collapsing.
- 5. Once the liquid level is just below the water sampling port, open the water port.
- 6. Continue to drain digester into the tank.
- To clean digester, fill a 300-gallon tank with water and use the centrifugal pump to flush water into the digester several times. Agitate water with digester stir rod.
- 8. Wash down area when complete

# **Appendix C: Supplementary Tables for Chapter 2**

**Table C.1** Average cumulative biogas and  $CH_4$  production values for BMP1 for the triplicate bottles, with 100 g<sub>ww</sub> of inoculum added to each BMP bottle, including inoculum controls.

	Biogas <sup>a</sup> (mL)	<b>CH4</b> <sup>a</sup> ( <i>mL</i> )	<b>CH4<sup>b</sup></b> ( <i>mL</i> )	<b>g VS added</b> (substrate)	mL CH4/g VS <sup>b</sup>	g substrate added	mL CH4/g substrate <sup>b</sup>
Inoculum	166	36					
0% Radish	313	121	85	0.36	236	10	8.49
20% Radish	412	176	140	0.45	315	10	14.0
40% Radish	498	219	183	0.53	344	10	18.3
50% Radish	522	230	194	0.57	337	10	19.4
60% Radish	578	256	220	0.62	357	10	22.0
80% Radish	631	279	243	0.70	345	10	24.3
100% Radish	743	330	294	0.79	372	10	29.4

<sup>a</sup> Inoculum included.

<sup>b</sup>CH<sub>4</sub> production from the inoculum source subtracted from each bottle.

	Biogas <sup>a</sup> (mL)	<b>H</b> <sub>2</sub> <b>S</b> <sup>a</sup> ( <i>mL</i> )	<b>H</b> <sub>2</sub> <b>S</b> <sup>b</sup> ( <i>mL</i> )	<b>g VS added</b> (substrate)	mL H <sub>2</sub> S/g VS <sup>b</sup>	g substrate added	mL H <sub>2</sub> S/g substrate <sup>b</sup>
Inoculum	166	0.16					
0% Radish	313	0.42	0.26	0.36	0.73	10	0.03
20% Radish	412	0.58	0.42	0.45	0.94	10	0.04
40% Radish	498	0.91	0.75	0.53	1.40	10	0.07
50% Radish	522	1.10	0.94	0.57	1.64	10	0.09
60% Radish	578	1.17	1.01	0.62	1.63	10	0.10
80% Radish	631	1.45	1.29	0.70	1.84	10	0.13
100% Radish	743	1.92	1.76	0.79	2.23	10	0.18

**Table C.2** Average cumulative biogas and  $H_2S$  production values for BMP1 for the triplicate bottles, with 100 g<sub>ww</sub> of inoculum added to each BMP bottle, including inoculum controls.

<sup>a</sup> Inoculum included.

 $^{b}\,H_{2}S$  production from the inoculum source subtracted from each bottle.

**Table C.3** Average cumulative biogas and  $CH_4$  production values for BMP2 for the triplicate bottles, with 125 g<sub>ww</sub> of inoculum added to each BMP bottle, including inoculum controls.

	Biogas <sup>a</sup> (mL)	<b>CH</b> 4 <sup>a</sup> ( <i>mL</i> )	<b>CH4<sup>b</sup></b> ( <i>mL</i> )	g VS added (substrate)	mL CH4/g VS <sup>b</sup>	g substrate added	mL CH4/g substrate <sup>b</sup>
Inoculum	143	18					
Early Harvest Radish	839	411	394	1.11	355	26	15.1
Late Harvest Radish	802	403	386	1.12	345	26	14.8

<sup>a</sup> Inoculum included.

<sup>b</sup> CH<sub>4</sub> production from the inoculum source subtracted from each bottle.

# **Appendix D: Supplementary Table for Chapter 3**

**Table D.1** Average cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> production values for the inoculum to substrate ratio (ISR) study for the triplicate bottles, with varying ratios of inoculum added to each BMP bottle, including inoculum controls<sup>\*</sup>.

	mL CH4/g VS <sup>a</sup>	<b>g VS added</b> (substrate)	<b>CH4</b> <sup>a</sup> ( <i>mL</i> )	Inoculum (g <sub>ww</sub> )	Inoculum factor <sup>b</sup>	<b>Calculated</b> <b>CH4<sup>c</sup></b> ( <i>mL</i> )	Actual CH4 <sup>c</sup> (mL)
Inoculum			1.55	20			
Substrate: 100% Radish							
ISR 65	6.15	1.66	10.2	37.1	1.86	13.1	13.0
ISR 50	0.67	1.66	1.11	20.0	1.00	2.66	1.48
ISR 35	0.02	1.66	0.03	10.8	0.54	0.87	0.03
ISR 20	0	1.66	0	5.00	0.25	0.39	0
ISR 10	0	1.66	0	2.22	0.11	0.17	0
ISR 0	0	1.66	0	0	0	0	0
Substrate: 40% Radish/60% Manu	ıre						
ISR 65	284	1.09	308	37.1	1.86	311	312
ISR 50	239	1.09	259	20.0	1.00	261	262
ISR 35	2.46	1.09	2.67	10.8	0.54	3.50	2.96
ISR 20	0.86	1.09	0.93	5.00	0.25	1.32	1.07
ISR 10	0.48	1.09	0.52	2.22	0.11	0.69	0.67
ISR 0	0.03	1.09	0.03	0	0	0.03	0.03

<sup>a</sup> CH<sub>4</sub> production from the inoculum source subtracted from each bottle.

<sup>b</sup> Adjusts for quantity of inoculum in each bottle relative to inoculum controls.

<sup>c</sup> Inoculum included.

<sup>\*</sup> Actual CH<sub>4</sub> values determined by subtracting out inoculum CH<sub>4</sub> production on a daily basis, while the calculated values were based on cumulative CH<sub>4</sub> production. If the CH<sub>4</sub> production from inoculum was higher than the substrate CH<sub>4</sub> production on a certain day, the substrate daily CH<sub>4</sub> value was given as zero.

	Biogas <sup>a</sup> (L)	<b>CH</b> 4 <sup>a</sup> ( <i>L</i> )	kg VS added (total)	L CH4/kg VS <sup>a</sup>	kg substrate added	L CH4/kg substrate <sup>a</sup>
M1	4093	2779	14.6	190	365	7.61
RM1	7879	4681	22.3	210	365	12.8
M2	2790	1732	11.6	149	365	4.74
RM2	5459	3060	14.7	208	365	8.38

# **Appendix E: Supplementary Tables for Chapter 4**

Table E.1 Average cumulative biogas and CH<sub>4</sub> production values for the triplicate complete mix batch digesters.

<sup>a</sup> Inoculum included.

Table E.2 Average cumulative biogas and H<sub>2</sub>S production values for the triplicate complete mix batch digesters.

	Biogas <sup>a</sup> (L)	<b>H</b> <sub>2</sub> <b>S</b> <sup>a</sup> ( <i>L</i> )	kg VS added (total)	L H2S/kg VS <sup>a</sup>	kg substrate added	L H2S/kg substrate <sup>a</sup>
M1	4093	25.0	14.6	1.71	365	0.07
RM1	7879	49.3	22.3	2.21	365	0.14
M2	2790	10.5	11.6	0.91	365	0.03
RM2	5459	24.6	14.7	1.68	365	0.07

<sup>a</sup> Inoculum included.

# Appendix F: Letter for Inclusion of One's Own Previously **Published Materials**



DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE College Park, Maryland 20742 & TECHNOLOGY

1449 Animal Sci./Ag. Eng. Bldg. 301.405.1197 TEL 301.314.9023 Fax www.enst.umd.edu

April 6, 2015

Charles Caramello Dean of the Graduate School University of Maryland 2123 Lee Building College Park, Maryland 20742

Dear Dean Caramello,

This letter serves to inform you that Ashley J. Belle's dissertation entitled, "Coupling Anaerobic Digestion Technology and Forage Radish Cover Cropping to Optimize Methane Production of Dairy Manure-based Digestion," contains her own previously published work that was recommended to be included as part of the final dissertation. The work is included in Chapter 4 of this dissertation and was previously published in Bioresource Technology's Special Issue on Thermo-chemical Conversion of Biomass. The published material is research that was conducted and primarily written by Ashley J. Belle during her doctoral studies at the University of Maryland. Ashley is listed as the first author of this publication, with members of her dissertation committee as co-authors. The Dissertation Director, along with the dissertation examining committee and the Department of Environmental Science and Technology's Graduate Director, accept the inclusion of this previously published work in the dissertation as Ashley has made substantial contributions to the work.

Sincerely,

Stephanie Lansing, PhD **Dissertation Director** 

Martin Rabenhorst, PhD ENST Graduate Director

# **Bibliography**

- Abbasi, T., Tauseeg, S.M., Abbasi, S.A., 2012. Biogas Energy. Springer. New York, USA.
- Abouelenien, F., Namba, Y., Kosseva, M.R., Nishio, N., Nakashimada, Y., 2014. Enhancement of methane production from co-digestion of chicken manure with agricultural wastes. Bioresour. Technol. 159, 80-87.
- AgSTAR, 2011. Recovering value from waste. Anaerobic digester system basics. Available from http://www.epa.gov/agstar/documents/recovering\_value\_from\_ waste.pdf. Accessed Jan 28, 2015.
- AgSTAR, 2013. Accomplishments. Page last modified June 30, 2014. Available from http://www.epa.gov/agstar/about-us/accomplish.html. Accessed Sept 1, 2014.
- AgSTAR, 2014a. Operating anaerobic digester projects. Page last modified Dec 18, 2014. Available from http://www.epa.gov/agstar/projects/. Accessed Jan 30, 2015.
- AgSTAR, 2014b. Anaerobic digestion frequent questions. Page last modified Dec 18, 2014. Available from http://www.epa.gov/agstar/anaerobic/faq.html. Accessed Jan 30, 2015
- Al Seadi, T., Rutz, D., Prassl, H. Kottner, M., Finsterwalder, T. Volk, S., Janseen, R., 2008. Biogas Handbook. University of Southern Denmark, Esbjerg.
- Allen, E., Wall, D.M., Herrmann, C., Murphy, J.D., 2014. Investigation of the optimal percentage of green seaweed that may be co-digested with dairy slurry to produce gaseous biofuel. Bioresour. Technol. 170, 436-444.
- Alvarez, R., Liden, G., 2008. Semi-continuous co-digestion of solid slaughterhouse waste, manure, and fruit and vegetable waste. Renew. Energ. 33(4), 726-734.
- Amon, T., Amon, B., Kryvoruchko, V., Machmüller, A., Hopfner-Sixt, K., Bodiroza, V., Hrbek, R., Friedel, J., Pötsch, E., Wagentristl, H., Schreiner, M., Zollitsch, W., 2007. Methane production through anaerobic digestion of various energy crops grown in sustainable crop rotations. Bioresour. Technol. 98 (17), 3204-3212.
- APHA (American Public Health Association), 2005. In: Eaton, A.D., Clesceri, L.S., Rice, E.W., Greenberg, A.E., Franson, M.A.H. (Eds.), Standard Methods for the Examination of Water and Wastewater. 21st edition. American Public Health Association, Washington, DC.
- ASAE, 2003. Manure Production and Characteristics. ASAE Standard D384.1Feb03.

- Bah, H., Zhang, W., Wu, S., Qi, D., Kizito, S., Dong, R., 2014. Evaluation of batch anaerobic co-digestion of palm pressed fiber and cattle manure under mesophilic conditions. Waste. Manag. 34(11), 1984-1991.
- Bao, Y., Guan, L., Zhou, Q., Wang, H., Yan, L., 2010. Various sulphur fractions changes during different manure composting. Bioresour. Technol. 101(20), 7841-7848.
- Barbanti, L., Di Girolamo, G., Grigatti, M., Bertin, L., Ciavatta, C., 2014. Anaerobic digestion of annual and multi-annual biomass crops. Ind. Crops Prod. 56, 137-144.
- Belle, A.J., Lansing, S., Mulbry, W., Weil, R.R., 2015. Anaerobic co-digestion of forage radish and dairy manure in complete mix digesters. Bioresour. Technol. 178, 230-237.
- Best Forage, 2015. Cover Crops. Tillage Radish. Available from http://www.bestforage .com/cover-crops.html. Accessed Feb 20, 2015.
- Bouallagui, H., Touhami, Y., Cheikh, R.B., Hamdi, M., 2005. Bioreactor performance in anaerobic digestion of fruit and vegetable wastes. Process Biochem. 40, 989-995.
- Braun, R., Weiland, P., Wellinger, A., 2009. Biogas from energy crop digestion. IEA Bioenergy, Task 37. Available from http://biogasmax.co.uk/media/iea\_1\_ biogas\_energy\_crop\_\_007962900\_1434\_30032010.pdf. Accessed Aug 27, 2014.
- Bruni, E., Jensen, A.P., Pedersen, E.S., Angelidaki, I., 2010. Anaerobic digestion of maize focusing on variety, harvest time and pretreatment. Appl. Energ. 87(7), 2212-2217.
- Bryant, L., Stockwell, R., White, T., 2013. Counting cover crops. National Wildlife Federation. Washington, DC. http://www.nwf.org/~/media/PDFs/Media %20 Center %20-%20Press%20Releases/10-1-13\_CountingCoverCrops-FINAL lowres.ashx.
- Burns, R., 2009. Current state of manure anaerobic digestion in the U.S. and beyond. Energy production from anaerobic digestion of dairy manure. Madison, WI. September 28-29, 2009.
- Carvalho, L., Di Berardino, S., Duarte, E., 2011. Biogas production from Mediterranean crop silages. Proceedings Sardinia 2011. Thirteenth International Waste Management and Landill Symposium. Cagliari, Italy. October 3-7, 2011.
- Chen, G., Weil, R.R., 2010. Penetration of cover crop roots through compacted soils. Plant Soil. 331(1-2), 31-43.

- Chen, G., Weil, R.R., 2011. Root growth and yield of maize as affected by soil compaction and cover crops. Soil Tillage Res. 117, 17-27.
- Chynoweth, D.P., Owens, J.M., Legrand, R., 2001. Renewable methane from anaerobic digestion of biomass. Renew. Energ. 22, 1-8.
- Ciska, E., Martyniak-Przybyszewska, B., Kozlowska, H., 2000. Content of glucosinolates in cruciferous vegetables grown at the same site for two years under different climatic conditions. J. Agr. Food Chem. 48(7), 2862-2867.
- Cote, C., Masse, D.I., Quessy, S., 2006. Reduction of indicator and pathogenic microorganisms by psychrophilic anaerobic digestion in swine slurries. Bioresour. Technol. 97(4), 686-691.
- Cropgen, 2008. Renewable energy from crops and agrowastes. Deliverables No. D4. Database of values. Available from http://www.cropgen.soton.ac.uk/deliverables .htm. Page last modified Mar 20, 2008. Accessed Jan 28, 2015.
- Dechrugsa, S., Kantachote, D., Chaiprapat, S., 2013. Effects of inoculum to substrate ratio, substrate mix ratio and inoculum source on batch co-digestion of grass and pig manure. Bioresour. Technol. 146, 101-108.
- Deublein, D., Steinhauser, A., 2011. Biogas from Waste and Renewable Resources. Second Ed. Wiley-VCH. Weinheim, Germany.
- Dias, T., Fragoso, R., Duarte, E., 2014. Anaerobic co-digestion of dairy cattle manure and pear waste. Bioresour. Technol. 164, 420-423.
- EIA, 2014. Independent statistics and analysis. U.S. Energy Information Administration. Available from http://www.eia.gov/dnav/ng/hist/n3010us3m.htm. Accessed Aug 15, 2014.
- El-Mashad, H. M., Zhang, R., 2007. Co-digestion of food waste and dairy manure for biogas production. Trans. ASABE. 50(5), 1815-1821.
- El-Mashad, H. M., Zhang, R., 2010. Biogas production from co-digestion of dairy manure and food waste. Bioresour. Technol. 101(11), 4021-4028.
- EPA, 2014a. Inventory of U.S. greenhouse gas emissions and sinks: 1990-2012. EPA 430-R-14-003.
- EPA, 2014b. Biogas opportunities roadmap: Voluntary actions to reduce methane emissions, increase energy independence and grow the economy. Available from http://www.epa.gov/climatechange/Downloads/Biogas-Roadmap-Factsheet.pdf. Accessed Jan 21, 2015.

- Eskicioglu, C., Ghorbani, M., 2011. Effect of inoculum/substrate ratio on mesophilic anaerobic digestion of bioethanol plant whole stillage in batch mode. Process Biochem. 46, 1682-1687.
- ForageSeeds, 2015. Nitro Radish. Available from https://www.forageseeds.com /byronseeds-nitro-radish-seed.html. Accessed Jan 21, 2015.
- Gao, R., Yuan, X., Zhu, W., Wang, X., Chen, S., Cheng, X., Cui, Z., 2012. Methane yield through anaerobic digestion for various maize varieties in China. Bioresour. Technol. 118, 611-614.
- Gerardi, M.H., 2003. The Microbiology of Anaerobic Digesters. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. Hoboken, New Jersey.
- Golkowska, K., Greger, M., 2013. Anaerobic digestion of maize and cellulose under thermophilic and mesophilic conditions-a comparative study. Biomass Bioenerg. 56, 545-554.
- Gruver, J., Weil, R., White, C., Lawley, Y., 2014. Radishes: a new cover crop for organic farming systems. Available from http://www.extension.org/pages/64400/ radishes -a-new-cover-crop-for-organic-farming-systems#.U6Lj3HZ2Ny0. Accessed Aug 19, 2014.
- Gu, Y., Chen, X., Liu, Z., Zhou, X., Zhang, Y., 2014. Effect of inoculum sources on the anaerobic digestion of rice straw. Bioresour. Technol. 158, 149-155.
- Gunaseelan, V.N., 2004. Biochemical methane potential of fruits and vegetable solid waste feedstocks. Biomass Bioenerg. 26, 389-399.
- Hancock Seed Company, 2015. Brassica seed. Lawn, pasture, and wildlife seed. Available from https://hancockseed.com/application-area-239/forage-and-cropseed-278/brassica-seed-350/. Accessed Jan 20, 2015.
- Hidalgo, D., Martin-Marroquin, J.M., 2014. Effects of inoculum source and co-digestion strategies on anaerobic digestion of residues generated in the treatment of waste vegetable oils. J. Environ. Manag. 142, 17-22.
- IPCC, 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of working group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, 1535 pp.
- Jiang, Y., Heaven, S., Banks, C.J., 2012. Strategies for stable anaerobic digestion of vegetable waste. Renew. Energ. 44, 206-214.

- Kafle, G.K., Kim, S.H., 2013. Anaerobic treatment of apple waste with swine manure for biogas production: Batch and continuous operation. Appl. Energ. 103, 61-72.
- Kafle, G.K., Bhattarai, S., Kim, S.H., Chen, L., 2014. Effect of feed to microbe ratios on anaerobic digestion of Chinese cabbage waste under mesophilic and thermophilic conditions: Biogas potential and kinetic study. J. Environ. Manag. 133, 293-301.
- Kawai, M., Nagao, N., Tajima, N., Niwa, C., Matsuyama, T., Toda, T., 2014. The effect of the labile organic fraction in food waste and the substrate/inoculum ratio on anaerobic digestion for a reliable methane yield. Bioresour. Technol. 157, 174-180.
- Khanal, S.K., Huang, J., 2003. ORP-based oxygenation for sulfide control in anaerobic treatment of high-sulfate wastewater. Water Res. 37, 2053-2062.
- Klavon, K.H., Lansing, S., Moss, A., Mulbry, W., Felton, G., 2013. Economic analysis of small-scale agricultural digesters in the United States. Biomass Bioenerg. 54, 36-45.
- Lansing, S., Viquez, J., Martinez, H., Botero, R., Martin, J., 2008. Quantifying electricity generation and waste transformations in a low-cost, plug-flow anaerobic digestion system. Ecol. Engin. 34(4), 332-348.
- Lansing, S., Martin, J.F., Botero, R.B., da Silva, T.N., da Silva, E.D., 2010. Methane production in low-cost, unheated, plug-flow digesters treating swine manure and used cooking grease. Bioresour. Technol. 101(12), 4362-4370.
- Lawley, Y.E., Teasdale, J.R., Weil, R.R., 2012. The mechanism for weed suppression by a forage radish cover crop. Agron. J. 104, 205-214.
- Lehtomäki, A., Viinikainen, T.A., Rintala, J.A., 2008. Screening boreal energy crops and crop residues for methane biofuel production. Biomass Bioenerg. 32(6), 541-550.
- Li, Y., Zhang, R., Chen, C., Liu, G., He, Y., Liu, X., 2013. Biogas production from codigestion of corn stover and chicken manure under anaerobic wet, hemi-solid, and solid state conditions. Bioresour. Technol. 149, 406-412.
- Liu, Y., Whitman, W.B., 2008. Metabolic, phylogenetic, and ecological diversity of the metanogenic archaea. Ann. NY Acad. Sci. 1125(1), 171-189.
- Lounsbury, N.P., 2013. Spring seedbed characteristics after winterkilled cover crops. MS thesis, University of Maryland College Park.
- Madigan, M.T., Martinko, J.M., Stahl, D.A., Clark, D.P., 2012. Brock Biology of Microorganisms. 13<sup>th</sup> edition. Benjamin Cummings. San Francisco, CA.

- Maranon, E., Salter, A.M., Castrillon, L., Heaven, S., Fernandez-Nava, Y., 2011. Reducing the environmental impact of methane emissions from dairy farms by anaerobic digestion of cattle waste. Waste Manag. 31(8), 1745-1751.
- Masse, D., Gilbert, Y., Savoie, P., Belanger, G., Parent, G., Babineau, D., 2010. Methane yield from switchgrass harvested at different stages of development in Eastern Canada. Bioresour. Technol. 101(24), 9536-9541.
- Masse, D. I., Talbot, G., Gilbert, Y., 2011. On farm biogas production: A method to reduce GHG emissions and develop more sustainable livestock operations. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 166(67), 436-445.
- Mata-Alvarez, J., Dosta, J., Romero-Guiza, M.S., Fonoll, X., Peces, M., Astals, S., 2014. A critical review on anaerobic co-digestion achievements between 2010 and 2013. Renew. Sustain. Energ. Rev. 36, 412-427.
- MDA, 2014. Maryland agricultural water quality cost-share program. Maryland Department of Agriculture. Available from http://mda.maryland.gov/resource\_ conservation/Pages/cover\_crop.aspx. Accessed Aug 30, 2014.
- MDA, 2015a. Maryland's 2014-2015 cover crop program. Maryland Department of Agriculture. Available from http://mda.maryland.gov/resource\_conservation /counties/MDACoverCrop.pdf. Accessed Jan 19, 2015.
- MDA, 2015b. Maryland's 2014-2015 cover crop program. Maryland Department of Agriculture. Available from http://mda.maryland.gov/resource\_conservation/ counties/WELCOMEWEB.pdf. Accessed Jan 19, 2015.
- Minnesota Project, 2010. Anaerobic digesters: farm opportunities and pathways. 23p. Available from http://www.mnproject.org/pdf/Anaerobic%20Digesters%203-2-11-HR.pdf. Accessed Jan 27, 2015.
- Molinuevo-Salces, B., Larsen, S.U., Ahring, B.K., Uellendahl, H., 2013. Biogas production from catch crops: evaluation of biomass yield and methane potential of catch crops in organic crop rotations. Biomass Bioenerg. 59, 285-292.
- Moody, L.B., Burns, R.T., Bishop, G., Sell, S.T., Spajic, R., 2011. Using biochemical methane potential assays to aid in co-substrate selection for co-digestion. Appl. Eng. Agric. 27(3), 433-439.
- Motte, J.C., Escudie, R., Bernet, N., Delgenes, J.P., Steyer, J.P., Dumas, C., 2013. Dynamic effect of total solid content, low substrate/inoculum ratio and particle size on solid-state anaerobic digestion. Bioresour. Technol. 144, 141-148.

- Naja, G. M., Alary, R., Bajeat, P., Bellenfant, G., Godon, J.J., Jaeg, J.P. et al., 2011. Assessment of biogas potential hazards. Renew. Energ. 36(12), 3445-3451.
- Navaneethan, N., Topczewski, P., Royer, S., Zitomer, D., 2011. Blending anaerobic codigestates: synergism and economics. Water Sci. Technol. 63(12), 2916-2922.
- Nielsen, A.M., Feilberg, A., 2012. Anaerobic digestion of energy crops in batch. Biosyst. Eng. 112, 248-251.
- Page, L.H., Ni, J., Heber, A.J., Mosier, N.S., Liu, X., Joo, H., Ndegwa, P.M., Harrison, J.H., 2014. Characteristics of volatile fatty acids in stored dairy manure before and after anaerobic digestion. Biosyst. Eng. 118, 16-28.
- Pages-Diaz, J., Pereda-Reyes, I., Taherzadeh, M.J., Sarvari-Horvath, I., 2014. Anaerobic co-digestion of solid slaughterhouse wastes with agro-residues: Synergistic and antagonistic interactions determined in batch digestion assays. Chem. Eng. 245, 89-98.
- Paschold, J.S., Wienhold, B.J., McCallister, D.L., Ferguson, R.B., 2008. Crop nitrogen and phosphorus utilization following application of slurry from swine fed traditional or low phytate corn diets. Agron. J. 100(4), 997-1004.
- Persson, M., Wellinger, A., 2006. Biogas upgrading and utilization; IEA Bioenergy October 13 2006. Available from: http://www.seai.ie/Renewables/ Bioenergy/ Biogas\_upgrading\_and\_utilisation\_IEA\_Bioenergy\_Report.pdf. Accessed Oct 23, 2014.
- Petersson, A., Thomsen, M.H., Hauggaard-Nielsen, H., Thomsen, A., 2007. Potential bioethanol and biogas production using lignocellulosic biomass from winter rye, oilseed rape and faba bean. Biomass Bioenerg. 31, 812-819.
- Peu, P., Sassi, J.F., Girault, R., Picard, S., Saint-Cast, P., Beline, F., Dabert, P., 2011. Sulphur fate and anaerobic biodegradation potential during co-digestion of seaweed biomass (Ulva sp.) with pig slurry. Bioresour. Technol. 102, 10794-10802.
- Peu, P., Picard, S., Diara, A., Girault, R., Beline, F., Bridoux, G., Dabert, P., 2012. Prediction of hydrogen sulphide production during anaerobic digestion of organic substrates. Bioresour. Technol. 121, 419-424.
- Peu, P., Picard, S., Girault, R., Labreuche, J., Beline, F., Dabert, P., 2013. Catch crops for agricultural biogas production, case study for Brassicaceae sp. Proceedings. 13<sup>th</sup> World Congress on Anaerobic Digestion, at Santiago de Compostela, Spain (IWA-11151). June 25-28, 2013.
- Ragaglini, G., Dragoni, F., Simone, M., Bonari, E., 2014. Suitability of giant reed (*Arundo donax* L.) for anaerobic digestion: Effect of harvest time and frequency on the biomethane yield potential. Bioresour. Technol. 152, 107-115.
- Rahman, K.M., Woodard, R., Manzanares, E., Harder, M.K., 2014. An assessment of anaerobic digestion capacity in Bangladesh. Renew. Sustain. Energ. Rev. 32, 762-769.
- Raposo, F., Banks, C.J., Siegert, I., Heaven, S., Borja, R., 2006. Influence of inoculum to substrate ratio on the biochemical methane potential of maize in batch tests. Process Biochem. 41, 1444-1450.
- Rincon, B., Banks, C.J., Heaven, S., 2010. Biochemical methane potential of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.): Influence of growth stage and storage practice. Bioresour. Technol. 101, 8179-8184.
- SARE, 2007. Managing Cover Crops Profitably, third edition. Sustainable Agriculture Network. Beltsville, Maryland.
- Slimane, K., Fathya, S., Assia, K., Hamza, M., 2014. Influence of inoculums/substrate ratios (ISRs) on the mesophilic anaerobic digestion of slaughterhouse waste in batch mode: process stability and biogas production. Energ. Proced. 50, 57-63.
- Traunfeld, J., 2009. Protect and improve your soil with cover crops. Available from http://extension.umd.edu/sites/default/files/\_images/programs/hgic/Publications /GE006\_ProtectAndImproveYourSoilWithCoverCrops.pdf. Accessed Jan 23, 2015.
- Umetsu, K., Yamazaki, S., Kishimoto, T., Takahashi, J., Shibata, Y., Zhang, C., Misaki, T., Hamamoto, O., Ihara, I., Komiyama, M., 2006. Anaerobic co-digestion of dairy manure and sugar beets. Int. Congr. Ser. 1293, 307-310.
- Wang, Q., Thompson, E., Parsons, R., Rogers, G., Dunn, D., 2011. Economic feasibility of converting cow manure to electricity: a case study of the CVPS cow power program in Vermont. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 4937-4949.
- Ward, A.J., Hobbs, P.J., Holliman, P.J., Jones, D.L., 2008. Optimisation of the anaerobic digestion of agricultural resources. Bioresour. Technol. 99(17), 7928-7940.
- Wei, S., Zhang, H., Cai, X., Xu, J., Fang, J., Liu, H., 2014. Psychrophilic anaerobic codigestion of highland barley straw with two animal manures at high altitude for enhancing biogas production. Energ. Convers. Manag. 88, 40-48.
- Weil, R., Kremen, A., 2007. Thinking across and beyond disciplines to make cover crops pay. J. Sci. Food Agric. 87(4), 551-557.

- Weil, R., White, C., Lawley, Y., 2009. Forage radish: a new multi-purpose cover crop for the Mid-Atlantic. University of Maryland Cooperative Extension fact sheet. College Park, MD.
- Wellinger, A., Murphy, J., Baxter, D. (Eds), 2013. The biogas handbook: science, production and applications. Woodhead Publishing. Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.
- Yue, Z., Chen, R., Yang, F., MacLellan, J., Marsh, T., Liu, Y., Liao, W., 2013. Effects of dairy manure and corn stover co-digestion on anaerobic microbes and corresponding digestion performance. Bioresour. Technol. 128, 65-71.
- Zhang, C., Xiao, G., Peng, L., Su, H., Tan, T., 2013. The anaerobic co-digestion of food waste and cattle manure. Bioresour. Technol. 129, 170-176.
- Zhou, Y., Zhang, Z., Nakamoto, T., Li, Y., Yang, Y., Utsumi, M., Sugiura, N., 2011. Influence of substrate-to-inoculum ratio on the batch anaerobic digestion of bean curd refuse-okara under mesophilic conditions. Biomass Bioenerg. 35, 3251-3256.
- Zuo, Z., Wu, S., Zhang, W., Dong, R., 2014. Performance of two-stage vegetable waste anaerobic digestion depending on varying recirculation rates. Bioresour. Technol. 162, 266-272.